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          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Good

          3  afternoon.  Today we will have an oversight hearing,

          4  and this is the Committee of Juvenile Justice merged

          5  with the Committee of Education.

          6                 My name is Council Member Sara

          7  Gonzalez, and today's oversight hearing is the role

          8  of education officials and staff in identifying

          9  early indicators of juvenile delinquency, and in

         10  diverting juveniles from the justice system.  Today

         11  is December 5th, 2006.

         12                 Good afternoon, and welcome to the

         13  joint hearing of the Juvenile Justice and Education

         14  Committees regarding opportunities for education

         15  officials and staff to identify early indicators of

         16  juvenile delinquency and divert juveniles from the

         17  juvenile justice system.

         18                 Again, I am Sara M. Gonzalez, the

         19  Chair of the Juvenile Justice Committee. I would

         20  like to thank you all for being here today to

         21  discuss this important and timely issue.

         22                 Before we begin, I would also like to

         23  thank Council Member Bob Jackson, my colleague, for

         24  his interest in this issue and for the work that he

         25  and his staff have done to put together this

                                                            5

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND EDUCATION

          2  hearing.  Thank you.

          3                 I also would like to acknowledge my

          4  colleagues who are joining us for today's meeting.

          5                 With us today is Councilwoman Maria

          6  Arroyo, Councilwoman Melinda Katz, Councilman Al

          7  Vann, Councilman Jimmy Vacca, Councilman Domenic

          8  Recchia, and Councilman Simcha Felder, and of

          9  course, Councilman Bob Jackson.  Welcome.

         10                 While all over crime in New York City

         11  has experienced a steady decline in recent years,

         12  juvenile crime conversely is on the rise.  Juvenile

         13  arrests in the City for murder and other major

         14  felonies increased 11.3 percent to 4,842 in Fiscal

         15  Year 2006.  The rate of felony robbery arrests of

         16  juveniles increased by 26.6 percent between 2004 and

         17  2005.  These numbers are particularly striking given

         18  that in previous years increases in juvenile arrests

         19  have averaged between one percent and two percent.

         20                 As a result of trends since 2005, DJJ

         21  has experienced a 13.7 percent increase in the

         22  number of juveniles admitted to its secure

         23  facilities.  The importance of making every effort

         24  to prevent juvenile crime, and to keep juveniles out

         25  of the juvenile system cannot be overstated.  Early
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          2  involvement in justice systems, especially detention

          3  in a secure facility, is the greatest predictor of

          4  future crime.  Thus diverting a child from ever

          5  entering the justice system is the most effective

          6  strategy for deterring future antisocial violence

          7  and criminal behavior.

          8                 School systems, educators and

          9  administrators are in a unique position to identify

         10  known risk factors early, and to intervene in the

         11  child's life before early problem behaviors turn

         12  into acts of delinquency and violence.

         13                 First, there's a clear correlation

         14  between educational disability, school failure and

         15  criminal behavior.  By some estimates, five times as

         16  many youth in detention facilities are eligible for

         17  special education services, as compared to youth in

         18  the general public school population.  The vast

         19  majority of detained youth perform below grade level

         20  in reading and math.

         21                 In addition, many of the children in

         22  our city schools have faced overwhelming hardships,

         23  brutality, and tragedy in their young lives.

         24  Poverty, sexual and physical abuse, parental

         25  substance abuse, and parental neglect are all highly
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          2  correlated with juvenile delinquency.  While school

          3  systems cannot change the circumstances of their

          4  students lives outside of the classroom, it must be

          5  acknowledged that schools may be the only structure

          6  and positive force in a young life that is otherwise

          7  defined by chaos.  Educators are well- positioned to

          8  identify risk factors early and to divert children

          9  from eventual justice system involvement through

         10  appropriate classes, programs and treatment that

         11  will help develop resilience, skills, socialization

         12  and confidence.

         13                 I will now turn the floor over to my

         14  colleague, Council Member Jackson.

         15                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you

         16  Chairperson Gonzalez.

         17                 First I want to thank you and your

         18  staff for approaching the Education Committee about

         19  this issue, and for really taking the lead on

         20  putting the hearing together.

         21                 As you said, this is an extremely

         22  important issue, and it's an issue that is very

         23  closely connected to dropout prevention, which is an

         24  issue that the Education Committee has been

         25  concerned with for some time now.
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          2                 So, I want to thank you again for

          3  asking us to join you for this hearing, and I look

          4  forward to collaborating with you and others on this

          5  issue in the future.

          6                 Chair Gonzalez mentioned in her

          7  opening remarks that educators are in a unique

          8  position to address some of the underlying factors

          9  that lead to juvenile delinquency and justice system

         10  involvement.  This is because children spend much

         11  more time at school than they do at home, and

         12  because teachers, principals, and other school staff

         13  are often strong positive role models in children's

         14  lives who have the capacity to influence their

         15  behavior.

         16                 In addition, research suggests that

         17  kids who struggle in school are more likely to get

         18  tangled up in the juvenile justice system, and that

         19  quality educational intervention helps to prevent

         20  juvenile delinquency, particularly for students who

         21  may have learning or development disabilities.

         22                 So, it's crucial that educators

         23  identify risk factors early, and then use

         24  appropriate intervention to help divert kids from

         25  the juvenile justice system.  Children with learning
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          2  and developmental disabilities should be given

          3  timely and comprehensive special education

          4  evaluations and services necessary to meet their

          5  educational needs.  Schools should attempt to

          6  increase communication with students families

          7  regarding behavioral issues, and efforts should be

          8  made systemwide to increase interaction and

          9  communication between mental health staff, teaching

         10  staff, and administrative staff regarding truancy

         11  and antisocial behavior.

         12                 Finally, the Department of Education

         13  needs to do what it can to ensure that after- school

         14  programs are protected and improved because after-

         15  school programs have been shown to be very effective

         16  in keeping kids out of trouble.

         17                 One of the things we had planned to

         18  do at today's hearing is talk to DOE, the Department

         19  of Education, about programs it has in place to

         20  target kids who are at risk for court involvement.

         21                 As always, we invited the Department

         22  of Education to come to today's hearings, but they

         23  have declined to do so. They have indicated to us,

         24  Sara Gonzalez and myself, in a letter yesterday,

         25  late afternoon approximately around five or six
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          2  o'clock, that they will not be attending today's

          3  hearing because of litigation that is currently

          4  pending in which they are involved with, even though

          5  it's my understanding that we, meaning people here

          6  at City Council, our legal staff has been in contact

          7  with the Corporate Council in discussing whether or

          8  not today's subject matter was the matter in essence

          9  in litigation, or was there something in which DOE

         10  could come and testify about.

         11                 It's my opinion that this is an

         12  appropriate subject for the Department of Education

         13  to be here this afternoon in order to discuss.

         14  Because we're not discussing the litigation, we're

         15  not discussing what's the curriculum you are

         16  providing youth that are detained in facilities.

         17  What we want to talk about is the subject area is,

         18  the role of education officials and staff in

         19  identifying early indicators of juvenile

         20  delinquency, and in diverting juveniles from the

         21  system itself.

         22                 In my opinion, and I'm not an

         23  attorney, I am a lay person, that's a big

         24  difference.  I don't believe that considering the

         25  fact that the Department of Education was notified
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          2  approximately a month earlier, and in fact, we had a

          3  date scheduled earlier than today but that date was

          4  postponed at the request of the Department of

          5  Education until this particular day, and so, here we

          6  are at the agreed upon date and time, and the

          7  Department of Education has decided in their opinion

          8  they cannot testify because of the current

          9  litigation.              So be that as it may,

         10  that's what the situation is.  But let me just say

         11  that while we did not  --  nevertheless we have

         12  attempted to gain an understanding of DOE's

         13  programming by doing our own research in advance of

         14  this hearing.  While we did not find information

         15  about a specific program targeted at preventing or

         16  reducing juvenile delinquency per se, we did find

         17  some programs that appear to address some of the

         18  underlying factors that are associated with juvenile

         19  delinquency.

         20                 For example, the Office of Youth

         21  Development and School Community Services within the

         22  Department of Education's Division of Youth

         23  Development works with schools to help prevent

         24  students who have poor attendance, high numbers of

         25  safety incidents in their records, and/or repeated
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          2  student suspensions. OYD, the Office of Youth

          3  Development, also has programming targeting schools

          4  that have a high number of over- aged students, as

          5  well as high populations of undercredited students.

          6                 We will attempt to shed some light on

          7  these programs, if we can, by talking to the

          8  advocates who are in attendance here today but I

          9  hope that after we come out of today's hearings,

         10  with a better understanding of what we can do to

         11  address this problem that we can sit down with DOE

         12  officials to discuss strategies for future

         13  programming.

         14                 So without any further delay, I would

         15  like to turn it over to my colleague, Chairperson

         16  Sara Gonzalez, to introduce the first witness.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you

         18  councilman, thank you so much.

         19                 Before we move on to introduce the

         20  people that are going to speak, I just would like to

         21  welcome with us today Judge Corriero, Manhattan

         22  Supreme Court, and I had the pleasure of going to

         23  that court and standing there and observing the work

         24  that he does with our young people and the

         25  commitment that he has.  Doing your job is
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          2  difficult, Judge, and I clearly understand, but the

          3  commitment you have is really special, and I thank

          4  you because I saw you firsthand.

          5                 So, welcome today to the New York

          6  City Council, and thank you for being here.

          7                 Our first person will be Angela

          8  Reformato from United Federation of Teachers, please

          9  step forward.  State your name for the record,

         10  please.

         11                 MS. REFORMATO:  My name is Angela

         12  Reformato, and I have some prepared remarks, but I'd

         13  like to preface it by saying that I appreciate the

         14  remarks I just heard, and I am an educator. I have

         15  been a teacher and a guidance counselor, and I have

         16  been working for the New York City Department of Ed

         17  for 37 years in the same school.  So, what I have to

         18  say is from the heart and witnessed in my school.

         19  Thank you.

         20                 Good afternoon Chairwoman Sara

         21  Gonzalez, Chairman Robert Jackson and the members of

         22  the City Council Education and Juvenile Justice

         23  Committees.

         24                 My name is Angela Reformato.  I am

         25  the chair of the Guidance Counselor Chapter of the
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          2  United Federation of Teachers, representing almost

          3  3,000 school guidance counselor members.

          4                 I'm pleased to offer the views of the

          5  United Federation of Teachers to this joint

          6  oversight hearing on how we can provide the kind of

          7  schooling that can minimize dropout rates, head off

          8  delinquency and keep juveniles out of the criminal

          9  justice system.

         10                 Dropping- out and incarceration are

         11  causally linked.  Some 75 percent of state prisoners

         12  in the United States are high school dropouts,

         13  according to the United States Department of Justice

         14  figures.  Failure to graduate too often means a

         15  lifetime of minimum wage jobs in unstable work

         16  situations, and all too frequently leads to brushes

         17  with the law and incarceration.  To society, it

         18  means lost tax revenues and increased welfare and

         19  law enforcement costs.

         20                 In New York City, the Mayor's

         21  Management Report pegs the annual cost of housing a

         22  kid in "secure detention" at $170,820.  Meanwhile,

         23  it costs just $13,500 a year to educate him or her.

         24                 The UFT would like to offer a dozen

         25  recommendations that we think would help the DOE
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          2  expand and improve dropout prevention strategies in

          3  city schools.

          4                 New York City has a proud record of

          5  creating effective, "second- chance" high schools

          6  for students in danger of dropping out.  The

          7  transfer high schools, including Manhattan

          8  Comprehensive Night and Day High School, and South

          9  Brooklyn High School's collaboration with Good

         10  Shepherd Services are national models.  We need more

         11  schools like this citywide.

         12                 When Chancellor Klein first took over

         13  the school system, he closed, without consultation,

         14  adult literacy, evening high schools and YABC

         15  Centers, and sharply downsized the alternative

         16  superintendency.

         17                 In our view he threw the baby out

         18  with the bathwater, losing effective programs and

         19  experienced educators. One encouraging sign that the

         20  DOE does recognize that different school

         21  alternatives are needed for students most at risk is

         22  the year- long Multiple Pathways effort.  Recently,

         23  as part of this initiative, DOE revived some Young

         24  Adult Borough Centers, they're called YABC Centers,

         25  and is in the process of revamping GED programs into
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          2  full-time offerings.

          3                 We'd recommend that the DOE seek out

          4  the advice of those who created the most effective

          5  alternative schools, and be cautious about further

          6  cutting successful programs for fear of losing

          7  experience and expertise that cannot be re- created.

          8  Priority should be placed on expanding second-

          9  chance opportunities throughout the city.

         10                 The core of any program for at- risk

         11  youngsters must be support services.  Unfortunately,

         12  the DOE has moved in exactly the wrong direction.

         13  While such services are a component of some

         14  alternative school settings, they should be part of

         15  all GED programs and SAVE rooms, the in- school

         16  detention centers.  In fact, they should be provided

         17  to many regular middle schools and high schools that

         18  serve at- risk students.

         19                 Dropping out begins in middle school,

         20  even if it usually doesn't manifest itself until

         21  later.  Middle school should be the locus of dropout

         22  prevention strategies.  That would mean middle

         23  school improvements, including significant

         24  reductions in class size for at- risk students,

         25  guidance services and changes to curriculum like
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          2  career exploration and learning to work, and full

          3  offerings of arts, sciences and phys. ed, the things

          4  that keep youngsters interested in school.

          5                 The first line of defense is the

          6  teacher. Teachers see changes in behavior early on.

          7  Test scores alone are not enough of an indicator.

          8  Teacher recommendations should be weighted heavily

          9  in decisions about promotion, school placement and

         10  needed interventions.  They should have a number of

         11  options available for their students at risk.

         12  Referring at- risk students to special ed is not a

         13  solution for students whose problems may be rooted

         14  in their personal situations or their detachment

         15  from school.

         16                 Guidance counselors come next, and of

         17  course, I know most about that.  But few counselors

         18  have the time for guidance, especially preventive

         19  service, since their time is consumed by paperwork.

         20  At my school, New Utrecht High School, we have begun

         21  a support program for at- risk students we identify

         22  in the ninth grade.  Under the supervision of a

         23  guidance counselor who is dedicated exclusively to

         24  this program, we work closely with the youngsters in

         25  the following years, catching the first signs of
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          2  trouble and providing immediate intervention.  Once

          3  a student veers off track, it takes one- on- one

          4  work to restore him or her to the graduation path.

          5  Schools need more counselors, and counselors need

          6  smaller case loads.

          7                 Attendance teachers are in short

          8  supply.  At- risk students need to be identified and

          9  brought back into school as soon as erratic

         10  attendance patterns begin, before they become

         11  everyday occurrences.  There simply are not enough

         12  attendance teachers, only some 300 to serve a

         13  million students, to do that job effectively.

         14                 The UFT is a strong supported of

         15  small schools. But as reported in a recent study,

         16  small high schools do not accept non-English

         17  speakers or special ed students for at least their

         18  first couple of years, and that rules out many of

         19  the kids we are talking about.  The small schools

         20  must accept at- risk students, and provide them with

         21  appropriate services.  If that brings down their

         22  test score or attendance averages, they should not

         23  be penalized for it.

         24                 There need to be more positive and

         25  constructive approaches to school suspension.  In-
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          2  school suspension programs, called SAVE, fall far

          3  short of their legislative intent. Mandated to

          4  provide both instruction and support services, they

          5  often don't exist, are staffed inappropriately, no

          6  teacher, or are nothing more than holding rooms.

          7  Similarly, attendance at DOE Suspension Centers is

          8  very low, and these centers provide no support or

          9  clinical services.  The most at-risk student, many

         10  of whom are already in the juvenile justice system,

         11  are simply warehoused, oftentimes for many months.

         12  They frequently don't return to school.

         13                 Schools in poor neighborhoods should

         14  be opened as community centers after school hours,

         15  along the lines of the Beacon Schools model,

         16  offering use of the gym and full after school

         17  programs for kids.  For adults there should be ESL

         18  and GED classes, job centers, immigration law

         19  clinics, et cetera.  And health clinics, including

         20  dental and mental health, have been found to improve

         21  student performance.  This kind of interagency

         22  coordination should have been one of the benefits of

         23  mayoral control of the schools.

         24                 It's important to keep the networks

         25  of schools and social services small and manageable.

                                                            20

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND EDUCATION

          2    The DOE dismantled the 32 Community Schools

          3  Districts, and replaced them with ten regions, as

          4  Mr. Jackson spoke about, then they replaced the ten

          5  offices with five Offices of Youth Development

          6  responsible for 250 schools each.  That's too many.

          7                 Small networks of school guidance

          8  counselors, social workers, CBO's and youth service

          9  agencies should be in regular touch with each other.

         10    But under current DOE rules, they have no time to

         11  meet to coordinate strategies and services.

         12  Everybody talks about interagency coordination, but

         13  that doesn't happen by osmosis, and it's really been

         14  a travesty this year.

         15                 The DOE should re-reach out to the

         16  police, HRA, Corrections, community boards and other

         17  groups so that there is less of a gulf between

         18  schools and the other places that deal with youth

         19  facing hardships and family crises.

         20                 Learning to Work should be

         21  emphasized.  This component probably requires a lot

         22  of development, as there are limited job resources

         23  for kids who haven't graduated, in fact, that's the

         24  whole point.  Partnerships with local business, a

         25  pro active referral process, and strengthening ties
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          2  with other social service agencies that do this kind

          3  of work are some of the ways this invaluable part of

          4  the dropout- prevention process can be built.

          5  Career and technical high schools do a better job of

          6  this, and should be supported and expanded to serve

          7  more students.  Linking school with practical

          8  preparation helps kids see the connection between

          9  graduating and having a future.

         10                 Victor Hugo's 19th century

         11  observation that "when you build a school, you close

         12  a prison," is still true in the 21st century.  But

         13  the school has to provide what kids need in the

         14  first place, and then a second and a third chance of

         15  targeted intensive services if that's what it takes.

         16    Otherwise, we all pay the price, not least of all

         17  the kids themselves.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you,

         20  Angela.

         21                 I have a question for you.  In your

         22  opinion, and according to your testimony, do you

         23  feel that  --  are there any systemic efforts to

         24  provide teachers and other staff in the schools with

         25  professional development aimed at identifying early
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          2  indicators of juvenile delinquency?  Or even

          3  otherwise diverting students from the juvenile

          4  justice system?

          5                 I mean, you spoke here about the

          6  teacher being the first line of defense, and I think

          7  the focus should be right now in respect to that.

          8                 Do you have any idea if it's

          9  happening?  Is it something that you can give us

         10  further recommendations on?

         11                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right now,

         12  professional development specifically on identifying

         13  these kinds of things, I don't believe it's going

         14  on, and especially for the teachers it's not going

         15  on.  It's going on very vaguely for the counselors,

         16  and right now, to be honest, they're really not

         17  getting a lot of professional development at all.

         18                 We had a meeting yesterday, and that

         19  was the major complaint.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  So Angela, you

         21  feel professional development, but would that be

         22  inclusive of some type of program for them in

         23  learning to identify young people who may be at

         24  risk?

         25                 MS. REFORMATO:  Yes, definitely.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Okay, so that

          3  could tie up with that as well.

          4                 MS. REFORMATO:  Definitely.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Okay, other

          6  questions?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well first let

          8  me thank you for coming in and giving testimony.

          9  UFT is a very important aspect, knowing that UFT

         10  represents all of the teachers, guidance counselors,

         11  and many other professionals that work in the

         12  system.

         13                 Before I begin any questions, let me

         14  just introduce my other colleagues that have arrived

         15  since we began, and to my left you have Lew Fidler

         16  of Brooklyn, the great borough of Brooklyn, Helen

         17  Sears of Queens, my colleagues to my left Melinda

         18  Katz of Queens, and Peter Vallone, Jr. Of Queens.

         19                 Can I turn to Jimmy Vacca of the

         20  Bronx with some questions?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Yes thank you

         22  for your testimony, and so many things you said rang

         23  true.  I have to ask you some questions.

         24                 Guidance counselors, what is the

         25  ratio of student to guidance counselor in New York
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          2  City, and I see you smiling so

          3  you have an answer, but I'm interested in the K to

          4  5, 6- 8, high school?  Are there different ratios of

          5  guidance counselors to pupil?

          6                 MS. REFORMATO:  Okay, I'm smiling

          7  because I get that question a lot, and the answer is

          8    --  okay, elementary school, K to 5, or K through

          9  6, there's no mandate for counseling in the

         10  elementary school, and I'd like to come here another

         11  day and talk about that, but so, I can't even give

         12  you a ratio because we have some schools that have

         13  one counselor, we have some schools that have a

         14  counselor one day, so I can't give you a ratio

         15  because I have schools in different boroughs that

         16  they have them, and some that don't, and I just have

         17  to say this in terms of all counseling  --  there's

         18  such a thing as IEP mandated counseling, that's

         19  special ed counseling, so when the Department of Ed

         20  gives you numbers, the numbers are a little slanted

         21  because what happens is services to a school for

         22  mandated, are governed under one to 90.

         23                 So a school, let's say a school has

         24  90 students receiving mandated counseling, the

         25  region or the district or whoever you want to call
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          2  it, will give the school funding for a full

          3  counselor, for 90 students, and pro- rate it.  So,

          4  it's 18 a day.  Other than that, so when they give

          5  you the numbers, so let's say you have what's called

          6  a mandated counselor in that school, and what I call

          7  a regular Ed counselor in that school, and the

          8  school has a thousand students, they'll say the

          9  average is 500 to one, but that's not true because

         10  one counselor is servicing 90, and the other

         11  counselor is serving all thousand. Do you understand

         12  what I'm trying to say?

         13                 Now, let's go to middle school, so in

         14  elementary school I can't give you an answer, and

         15  there is no mandate from the State or the City.

         16  Middle school, there's a rule called`Part 100,'

         17  which is a State regulation that says,`every

         18  student, grade seven through 12 must have an annual

         19  review by a licensed counselor.'  Because of that,

         20  we say at the UFT and the DOE usually agrees, that

         21  every middle school must have at least one full-

         22  time counselor.  Sometimes you've got a school of

         23  1,400 and it only has one counselor.  The

         24  recommended ratio by the State is one to 350, and

         25  again, I go back to that one to 90, that shouldn't
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          2  be included in that because the people doing related

          3  service is separate.  So when they give you numbers,

          4  they're inappropriate numbers.

          5                 In the high school the ratio is one

          6  to 250 for the State, but I would say most

          7  counselors have a minimum of 400.  In the middle

          8  schools they have 500, 600.

          9                 So, I don't know if I answered your

         10  question.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  No, no, you

         12  did.  It just seems to me that we're going backward,

         13  and I will tell you that I was on a school board in

         14  1987, and when we made policy, the policy of our

         15  Board was that every elementary school, K to five,

         16  had to have a guidance counselor off the top--

         17                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: -- because we

         19  realized the multiple needs that the kids had.

         20                 So, if we're saying that the K to

         21  five schools now have no guidance requirement --

         22                 MS. REFORMATO:  A lot of them don't.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: -- we're going

         24  backward.

         25                 MS. REFORMATO:  Yes, let me tell you
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          2  something, I could give you districts.  I can tell

          3  you like District 26 in Queens, no guidance

          4  counselors.  District 21, not too many, elementary

          5  school.  Bronx, District 7, I'm not sure.  I could

          6  actually go through certain ones that I know really

          7  don't have them, and then other districts  --  and

          8  now under the control of the principal, the

          9  principal's control the  --  even, whether it's an

         10  Empowerment school or a regular school, it doesn't

         11  matter.  The principal has control of their budget.

         12  If they feel the need for guidance services, and if

         13  they value them, they'll hire a guidance counselor

         14  or two guidance counselors, and then others don't.

         15  The UFT Charter School, elementary school, has two

         16  guidance counselors.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  But what we're

         18  looking at then is unequal availability of guidance

         19  counselors based on a decision of a particular

         20  principal, based on what they perceive the need of

         21  their school is.

         22                 MS. REFORMATO:  Exactly, yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  But if we're

         24  looking to make a concerted attempt, citywide, to

         25  help at- risk kids, there has to be uniformity of
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          2  policy.

          3                 MS. REFORMATO:  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Now funding,

          5  some schools have Title 1 money, some don't.

          6                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Some schools

          8  have Empowerment money now, and some don't.

          9                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  You mentioned

         11  that there is no mandate for K to six, but there's a

         12  mandate for seven through 12, that's a State

         13  mandate?

         14                 MS. REFORMATO:  State mandate, and I

         15  have news for you.  I was discussing this with

         16  someone at Empowerment, and they said, "well, it

         17  says that the students have to have this annual

         18  review," but they said, "it really doesn't have to

         19  be a full- time counselor."

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  What you did

         21  not mention, I want to say, is that the most

         22  difficult years, in my opinion, for a kid, is grade

         23  six, seven, eight.

         24                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Now, in grade
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          2  six, seven, eight, these counselors are not only

          3  doing at- risk children, and day to day issues,

          4  parental issues, they're doing high school

          5  articulation as well.

          6                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right, right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  If you look,

          8  and I know you mentioned you were concerned about

          9  looking at standardized test scores, but if you look

         10  at standardized test scores, starting in grade six,

         11  they start to plummet.

         12                 I had made the remark that in the

         13  Bronx, we only have four schools in the Bronx that

         14  in grade eight are above level in math.  Four

         15  schools in the entire borough of the Bronx are above

         16  level in grade eight math.

         17                 So, we know something is happening

         18  when you contrast and compare grade four to grade

         19  eight, and then you see the decline this year for

         20  the first time.

         21                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  I got

         23  something from the American Federation of Teachers

         24  concerning the reauthorization of`No Child Left

         25  Behind' legislation.
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          2                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  What are we

          4  doing to see if we can have certain of these issues

          5  addressed through the reauthorization of`No Child

          6  Left Behind?'

          7                 MS. REFORMATO:  I know that there are

          8  committees out there.  That comes out of Washington,

          9  so they're going to, I guess, be testifying and see

         10  what they can do about that but it's a very serious

         11  problem.

         12                 You're right, the middle years, but

         13  let me tell you something.  Even the formative

         14  years, elementary school, these kids right now with

         15  all these tests, the third grade test, the fifth

         16  grade test, the this- grade test, I'm a high school

         17  person so it's  --  but I know that there's the

         18  third grade test, and another test.  Test- taking

         19  and the anxiety dealing with tests, and everybody

         20  being afraid of it leads to a lot of stuff going on,

         21  and counselors could help it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Tell me how do

         23  you interrelate with AIDP people, SAPAs people?

         24                 Do they provide a link to the

         25  guidance counselor or are they under  --  I don't
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          2  think they're under the purview of a guidance

          3  counselor.  They are under the purview of the

          4  principal but aren't they doing risk  --  work with

          5  at- risk kids?

          6                 MS. REFORMATO:  AIDP is  --  usually

          7  a school gets funding for AIDP, and the principal

          8  could use it for teaching and for lowering class

          9  size, and for counseling because I was an AIDP

         10  counselor at one time.

         11                 So, it depends on how the money is

         12  funded, and what they want to do in the particular

         13  school for it.

         14                 SAPAs is also in addition too.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  And not every

         16  school has a SAPAs worker.

         17                 MS. REFORMATO:  Probably not,

         18  probably not, no.

         19                 It's really a problem out there

         20  because you really can't get to know the kids if you

         21  have these large caseloads, and you don't have  --

         22  and you're doing paperwork.  I mean, we have to send

         23  out letters`promotion in doubt,' yes, we send out

         24  letters.  We send out letters for attendance.

         25                 But if you know the kids, if you have
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          2  a smaller caseload of 150 and 200 kids, you get to

          3  know the family, you could see a pattern, you can

          4  talk to the teachers, having time to`case

          5  conference' about specific kids.  Sometimes you see

          6  a pattern, you see something happening.

          7                 I've had teachers come over to me,

          8  and say to me, "I see something happening with this

          9  student."  We will call the parent, we'll find out,

         10  and you have to delve, and delving takes time, and

         11  if you have paperwork that high school articulation

         12  is due, especially in the junior high, it's very

         13  hard to do both.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  I want to end

         15  by saying I very much am aware of these concerns.

         16                 Your analogy that I want to end with

         17  is the large high schools versus the small high

         18  school.

         19                 I have a large high school in my

         20  district, Lehman High School, with 4,300 children--

         21                 MS. REFORMATO:  Yes, excellent high

         22  school.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: -- and out of

         24  the 4,300, 850 had IEP's.

         25                 MS. REFORMATO:  Wow.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Eight-hundred

          3  and fifty have IEP's.

          4                 MS. REFORMATO:  That's 20 percent.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Now, I don't

          6  want anyone on this committee or at City Hall or

          7  whatever to confuse the reality that when you have

          8  an IEP, you are entitled to counseling services as

          9  part of your IEP, but the counseling services that

         10  you get through the 4,300-seat school, that's a

         11  different calculation.  You see, an IEP, when you

         12  get counseling through the IEP, it should not mean

         13  that the school should be hurt relative to

         14  counseling.  I'm not saying that this school is.

         15                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right, no it isn't

         16  but, yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  I'm saying

         18  that there's an overall need, but that the large

         19  schools have an IEP, an Individual Education

         20  Program, I'm saying that the large schools, I feel,

         21  now have disproportionate burdens and needs that

         22  have to be met when it comes to children with

         23  special needs, and I don't know if we're meeting it,

         24  with the guidance level of services we have.

         25                 MS. REFORMATO:  Just as a point of

                                                            34

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND EDUCATION

          2  information, just because a student has an IEP, it

          3  depends on what the IEP is for.  Some of those IEP

          4  students are not getting counseling through IEP's.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Right.

          6                 MS. REFORMATO:  But the point is that

          7  you're right.  In other words, if you take that

          8  ratio, that's 20 percent of the students, I was a

          9  math teacher in my old life, 20 percent of the

         10  students in that school are special ed, and yet,

         11  it's true.  All I'm saying is you're absolutely

         12  right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  And just think

         14  of an intermediate school with 1,200 children, and

         15  one guidance counselor.

         16                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right, I know.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  It's mind-

         18  boggling to think of 1,200 kids, grades six to

         19  eight, with one guidance counselor.               We

         20  need people to pull all these services together, and

         21  that's the role of a guidance counselor if we could

         22  only get them out from under the paper that they are

         23  required to fill out, and really give them more

         24  support.

         25                 So, I thank you, and I think it's a
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          2  good way for us to think as we proceed.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 MS. REFORMATO:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Angela, I have

          6  just have one more question or I believe my

          7  colleague also would like to ask you some more

          8  questions.

          9                 Prevention begins at birth, I mean,

         10  this is something that I'm very knowledgeable if in

         11  my own field, but if you had a hundred, let's say

         12  there was a number, a million, whatever, would you

         13  say that counselors and staff that are trained

         14  appropriately to identify these at- risk children

         15  should be in the middle aged schools?

         16                 Would that be, or where in your

         17  recommendation, your expertise what would be your

         18  opinion on that?

         19                 MS. REFORMATO:  Are you saying should

         20  they be in the elementary or the middle?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Yes, where

         22  would you want more of it?  Let's say there was a

         23  pot of gold somewhere.

         24                 MS. REFORMATO:  You see, I think was

         25  has to be, we have to have a developmental program.
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          2  I think we have to start in the elementary school.

          3  No really, we have to start in the elementary

          4  school, and start with foundations because we all

          5  know, in order to walk, we have to crawl and creep

          6  and everything else.  So I think, you build the

          7  system.

          8                 So, if you have some in the

          9  elementary school, minimally, and then as they get

         10  to junior high school you increase it, and as they

         11  get to high school you increase it more because

         12  right now, the recommended ratio from the State for

         13  middle is 350, for high school it's 250.  So, you

         14  could see it goes down.

         15                 So, I would say in an elementary

         16  school you'd like one in every school, but if you

         17  have large schools of 1,000, maybe two.  So, like

         18  one for every 500.  This is just numbers that I'm

         19  saying, or like in a junior high, let's say, to have

         20  one on each grade, plus the other people because the

         21  mandated is separate, and you have the other

         22  programs.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Exactly.

         24                 MS. REFORMATO:  So, that the students

         25  get to know, and depending on how many on the grade.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

          3                 MS. REFORMATO:  You're welcome

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Councilman.

          5                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well thank

          6  you for coming in and giving testimony, and I've

          7  looked over your points, and I'm going to turn to, I

          8  guess, part of your first point where you indicated

          9  that Chancellor Klein, when he first took over the

         10  system, that he closed without consultation adult

         11  literacy programs, evening high schools, and YABC

         12  Centers, and sharply downsized the alternative

         13  superintendency.

         14                 Why were those programs important

         15  overall as far as our children are concerned in

         16  school?

         17                 MS. REFORMATO:  All right, I can

         18  speak specifically to evening high school.

         19                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay,

         20  whatever, as a counselor--

         21                 MS. REFORMATO:  Evening high school

         22  was cut this year.  Now, I've been a counselor as I

         23  said over 20 years, and one of the things that I

         24  handle is the high school graduation in my school,

         25  and I used to be an evening high school counselor
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          2  also, years ago.  I mean, not having evening high

          3  school, you have situations where students who

          4  needed extra credits to graduate used to be very

          5  successful by taking two and four classes at night.

          6  They took two this term, two next term, and they

          7  were able to graduate on time.  Now we don't have

          8  that.

          9                 You know what else we have, we have a

         10  big problem with the fact of students that  --

         11  let's say we have a student, and I have this right

         12  now, students that were supposed to graduate last

         13  year, or the year before, and they want to come back

         14  to evening high school to finish up and finally get

         15  that piece of paper, that diploma.  I mean, there's

         16  nothing wrong with the student, I know statistics

         17  and everything is a student graduating in four

         18  years, but if a kid can't graduate in four years,

         19  they should be able to graduate in four- and- a-

         20  half years and five years.  And sometimes if it's

         21  only one class or two classes, they come back at

         22  night, they finish up, and they get that diploma,

         23  they try really hard or if they have to pass a test,

         24  and now we don't have the services for them because

         25  we don't have it.  They just got rid of it.
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          2                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I'm sorry,

          3  DOE said and I want to hear you opinion on this, DOE

          4  has said in response to the closing of these evening

          5  schools, is that their home- based school

          6  where the students come from, will develop programs

          7  on site in order for them to participate in, in

          8  order so that they can graduate.

          9                 MS. REFORMATO:  Okay, we have one in

         10  my school. All right, we have--

         11                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Can I ask

         12  you to address the issue?

         13                 MS. REFORMATO:  It's an effective

         14  strategy for some students, but not for all students

         15  because we live in a world where a lot of students

         16  work, okay.  And students work after school, and

         17  when you had evening high school they were able to

         18  come back at 6 o'clock or 6:30, and go to school.

         19                 Now you have a void, so they might be

         20  in classes to one o'clock, and they have to come

         21  back to this p.m. school at 4 o'clock, and some of

         22  them had jobs.  So, there's a lot of problems with

         23  it, it will work for some.  I'm not saying it won't

         24  for the neighborhood students, but you can't offer

         25  all the classes you might have to offer.
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          2                 We, in my school were trying to offer

          3  generic classes because I mean, there's a lot of

          4  different classes students might need, and we

          5  couldn't offer everything.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I looked at the

          7  recommendations that you put forward, and I look at

          8  number two, which is basically support services,

          9  three, drop out prevention strategies, four, the

         10  teacher being the first line of defense, five,

         11  guidance counselors, six, attendance teachers, you

         12  say are in short supply.

         13                 Do you believe that the system has

         14  enough resources in order to provide the services

         15  that we need to provide our children?

         16                 So, I want to hear your opinion as

         17  the Chapter Leader of the approximately 3,000

         18  guidance counselors, whether or not you feel there's

         19  enough resources in order to bring about the

         20  services that we need in order to prevent our young

         21  people from going into juvenile delinquency and

         22  secured facilities?

         23                 MS. REFORMATO:  Do we have enough

         24  counselors, is that what you're asking me?

         25                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Do we have
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          2  enough resources?

          3                 MS. REFORMATO:  Money?  Well I think,

          4  we need more money, that's the issue.  We need more

          5  money either from the State, from the City, to

          6  provide these services, yes.

          7                 We don't have the resources right

          8  now, or the principals aren't putting the resources

          9  in the right places.  I mean, there might be money

         10  in the pot.

         11                 When they first started AIS, Academic

         12  Intervention Services, there was a line that

         13  said,`guidance and support services,' the first

         14  year, and it was more successful.

         15                 Now, I don't remember who the person

         16  was, but I remember going to a meeting and they

         17  said,`all the money goes into a pot.'  And when

         18  everything goes into a pot, and it isn't said,`you

         19  need this for this, and this for that,' there's a

         20  ruling I believe, and I know for high school, I'm

         21  not sure about junior high, that there has to be a

         22  librarian for every 1,000 students in a school.

         23                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  But with

         24  respects to the state rule, it seems as though that

         25  now as time goes on, with having money come in and
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          2  not designated for a certain purpose, you know for

          3  example, whereas, if it was mandated to have a

          4  guidance counselor in the school, or a bilingual

          5  coordinator in the school, or an AIDP drop-out

          6  program specialist, it seems as though that they

          7  money seems to be going more generally to the

          8  leadership of a school where they can decide what is

          9  necessary. Do you think that that is the most

         10  effective way in order to, I guess, have our

         11  children to stay out of the juvenile justice system?

         12                 MS. REFORMATO:  No, I don't.

         13                 I think that there should be some

         14  mandates out there, and I think that with that,

         15  principals will have to use the mandate and know

         16  that they  --  I think what's happening is a lot of

         17  money is going into instruction, and I'm not saying

         18  that that's wrong totally, but because everybody is

         19  worried about the statistics about reading scores,

         20  and math scores, I'm looking at the whole child, and

         21  the child not getting into trouble, and the child

         22  having success.

         23                 Sometimes that's not a measurable

         24  thing in a reading score and in a math score.

         25                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Do you know
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          2  of  -- you're a guidance counselor in the high

          3  school level, is that correct?

          4                 MS. REFORMATO:  Yes.

          5                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Do you know

          6  of what programs does DOE have, let's say, in the

          7  intermediate schools, what programs, if there's any

          8  names of programs in place to address juvenile

          9  delinquency?

         10                 MS. REFORMATO:  I don't think I know

         11  of any in junior high school.

         12                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  What about

         13  in high school?

         14                 In high school you get children and

         15  students that are in high school, ages what?

         16  Fourteen to eighteen, or nineteen, those are

         17  juveniles, aren't they?

         18                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right.

         19                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  What

         20  programs if any, do you know, that DOE has in high

         21  school?  Can you name one or several programs that

         22  they have in place?

         23                 MS. REFORMATO:  Well, the only things

         24  we have in place are what I talked about when a

         25  student isn't doing well, you want to send them to
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          2  another kind of a site for graduation but for them

          3  to get there, they are already under-credited, and

          4  overaged, and a problem in some kind of way.

          5                 Do we have any specific program for a

          6  student that has been incarcerated or anything?  I

          7  really don't know.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:   No, no, not

          9  that's incarcerated, but programs that the DOE has

         10  in place that will address juvenile delinquency, and

         11  I guess the fact is that a counselor or that an

         12  intervention specialist look at  --  which will

         13  indicate that if youth has higher attendance, many

         14  lateness's or they are absent from school, or if

         15  they have a short threshold for tolerance, these are

         16  factors that people look at with respects to  --

         17  these may be indicators that that child or student

         18  may be heading down the path toward juvenile

         19  delinquency.

         20                 What about, you said you didn't know

         21  of any programs in the intermediate schools.  Are

         22  there any programs in high school?

         23                 MS. REFORMATO:  I think each school

         24  has their own program.  I think, like in my school,

         25  we saw students that

                                                            45

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND EDUCATION

          2  were  --  that we felt were at risk and we took them

          3  out, we took 80 students, and we put them with one

          4  counselor, and we put them in smaller classes.

          5  We're monitoring everything they do, and it's been

          6  successful for the last year or two.

          7                 I think each school has that but is

          8  there a major school or that, I guess --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Is there a

         10  citywide initiative?

         11                 MS. REFORMATO:  Not that I know of.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So for example,

         13  AIDP, the, what does AIDP stand for?

         14                 MS. REFORMATO:  Attendance

         15  Improvement Dropout Prevention.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, and are

         17  there City money  --  I understand that there may be

         18  City monies that we can designate for that, if we

         19  wanted to.  But there's State monies, and there may

         20  be some Federal monies, is that correct?

         21                 MS. REFORMATO:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, and does

         23  your school have an AIDP program, in your school?

         24                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right now, no.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  It does not.
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          2  What is the name of your school?

          3                 MS. REFORMATO:  New Utrecht High

          4  School.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, do you

          6  know what the overall attendance rate of your school

          7  is?

          8                 MS. REFORMATO:  Do I know off- hand,

          9  no.  I'm sorry.

         10                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, okay.

         11                 MS. REFORMATO:  But just as a point

         12  of information, what happens with Attendance

         13  Improvement Dropout Prevention, because that's what

         14  I started as, we were successful. We got the kids

         15  back, they took away the money the next year. I'm

         16  serious, I got the funding and then the next year

         17  all of a sudden, the line was dropped because we did

         18  well.  It happened to me.

         19                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  It seems as

         20  though that when you're entitled to certain monies,

         21  and then you've reached a threshold, I guess, when

         22  you're not entitled any more.  Then you don't even

         23  have sort of like a phase- down funding in order for

         24  you to continue some services, 50 percent of the

         25  services or 75 percent.  They just cut you off

                                                            47

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND EDUCATION

          2  altogether.

          3                 MS. REFORMATO:  It happened to me.

          4  See, when you have that money, it's supposed to be

          5  separated just for that, and sometimes it is, and

          6  sometimes it isn't, depending on what the principal

          7  is doing with it.

          8                 Like the time I became an AIDP

          9  counselor, I had a very specific caseload, and I had

         10  specific roles to do with that that were regulated.

         11  Then afterwards, it was dropped because it was

         12  successful.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Well, I want

         14  to thank you for coming in and giving testimony.  We

         15  have a colleague that has a question but do you

         16  think, in your professional opinion as being a

         17  counselor, for how many years have you been a

         18  counselor or in the system?

         19                 MS. REFORMATO:  Since 1985, so I've

         20  been in the system 37 years.

         21                 CO- CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Do you

         22  think there should be a citywide program to prevent

         23  juvenile delinquency and/or dropout?

         24                 MS. REFORMATO:  Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Let me turn to
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          2  my colleague, Lew Fidler who has some questions or

          3  comments.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  It's not a

          5  questions, just a clarification Mr. Chairman.

          6                 I know sometimes they say that we

          7  don't know what we're doing over here, but we should

          8  at least know what we've done.

          9                 The AIDP money that was cut by the

         10  State, and the Governor in, I believe, a line item

         11  veto in the budget was restored through the efforts

         12  of the Council two years ago, and again, restored in

         13  this budget, specifically to address those schools

         14  that had success in AIDP, and therefore were loosing

         15  the program with the idea that that not, what

         16  happened at New Utrecht, not be the rule, but if

         17  anything, be the exception on the theory that it

         18  just made absolutely no sense to fix a problem or

         19  allow it to become broken again.

         20                 So, I don't believe that that is

         21  supposed to be happening any more with AIDP because

         22  of the 1.2 some-odd million that the Council put

         23  into the budget.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Before we
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          2  continue, I would like to welcome Council Member

          3  Oliver Koppell.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 Jessica Lappin, hello.  Councilwoman

          6  Jessica Lappin.

          7                 Before we move one, I just have one

          8  more question.

          9                 How do you feel about a connection or

         10  some kind of linkage between the school and DJJ in

         11  the event that one of those students ends up in a

         12  detention center to, sort of, return to that school

         13  without too much  --  is that something that, I

         14  mean, just in your expertise and opinion?

         15                 MS. REFORMATO:  I think it depends on

         16  the severity of what was going on, and there should

         17  be contact, and the counselor should be informed.

         18                 We've had situations where sometimes

         19  that the counselor is not informed that the student

         20  was incarcerated or something, and then the student

         21  comes back.  This happened a couple of years ago, I

         22  remember that.

         23                 So, I mean, we have to know so that

         24  we can get the kid back into the system, at an even

         25  level.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Or maybe

          3  Angela, I was thinking, if a young person is

          4  arrested, they're attending your high school, maybe

          5  there's a possibility that young person won't be

          6  able return to that high school.

          7                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  But maybe the

          9  connection, the records, the continuity of whatever,

         10  or wherever he or she was, that could be the

         11  collaboration so that we can make that connection

         12  and continue because I think a lot of them loose out

         13  when it comes to that, sort of reconnecting and they

         14  end up somewhere else, and it does not work.

         15                 MS. REFORMATO:  Well, if you don't

         16  get the phone call that the student  --  I remember

         17  somebody telling me that if someone, and then I had

         18  to reach out and call the other person. But, there

         19  should be a better system.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  So I think

         21  maybe like a linkage, not a  --  some type of

         22  linkage.  I think that something that maybe could be

         23  looked at in the future, that's an idea.

         24                 MS. REFORMATO:  Right, yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I'd also like
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          2  to  -- Councilwoman Helen Sears has a question for

          3  you.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you

          6  Madam Chair.

          7                 I'm not certain that the question

          8  should be directed to you, but Legal Aid is

          9  following you, so if you can't, they will.

         10                 First, I just have to make a comment.

         11    That Education is joined here with Juvenile

         12  Justice, and when Juvenile Justice has their

         13  committee hearings, they're from seven to the age

         14  16.  So your comment made about in the elementary

         15  schools, and how important that is, when I say to

         16  people the age of seven we need to look at what's

         17  wrong, what's wrong in the schools, you're

         18  absolutely right.

         19                 I'd like to make this discussion just

         20  go backwards, instead of going forward because these

         21  children age seven to 16 are either in secured or

         22  unsecured facilities, and the question is, and it

         23  may be for you and it may not, the Department of Ed

         24  is not here, that the Passages Academy, I'm sure

         25  you're quite familiar with that, it's very difficult
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          2  for us to know just what is the curriculum that's in

          3  that.  I don't mean just the three R's, what is the

          4  more global schoolroom that they have in that?  And

          5  of your 3,000 counselors, do any, even one, find

          6  their way into little old schoolhouse that's in the

          7  Juvenile Justice system because they're not

          8  separated by age?  They may be separated by gender,

          9  but they're not separated by age, so a 16 year- old

         10  can be with a seven, or she can be with a 10- year-

         11  old, and I just wonder what is the curriculum that

         12  is designed by the Department of Ed that is taking

         13  care of the children that everything seems to be

         14  geared around preventing it, but the fact is, it's

         15  going up with young girls, and it's rising.  So,

         16  maybe you can answer that.  I really  --  since

         17  you're there and you're doing so well but maybe you

         18  can just throw some light on the issue.

         19                 MS. REFORMATO:  I'm really not sure.

         20  I know that there are guidance counselors associated

         21  with Passages, but I'm really not that familiar with

         22  how it works.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay, now then

         24  another question.

         25                 Do you have a pool of counselors that
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          2  would be available to fill those slots if the monies

          3  were there? Particularly in the elementary because

          4  you're in high school, but let's take the three

          5  levels because they're all interlocked?

          6                 MS. REFORMATO:  Okay, yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  And I have a

          8  problem when elementary is separated from junior

          9  high, and I agree with Councilman Vacca, they're on

         10  a intestinal cyclone in junior high school, and

         11  concentrate, quite frankly, on the high school when

         12  I consider that to be a little too late.

         13                 MS. REFORMATO:  Well, I agree.

         14                 I'm not sure if I understand your

         15  question but what I will say is if you're asking me

         16  if there are counselors available to go into the

         17  schools, yes.

         18                 I spoke the other day at NYU, I'm

         19  speaking at NYU again, I'm speaking at Lehman next

         20  week.  There are  --  almost every university in the

         21  New York City area has a counseling program, and we

         22  are graduating some wonderful people that are out

         23  there that are looking for jobs and can't get them.

         24                 I mean, I don't know how many people

         25  they hire a year, but they've been complaining that
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          2  there aren't positions for many of these new people

          3  that are very good.  I've seen them, and I've seen

          4  the work they've done.

          5                 So, there will be counselors

          6  available if jobs are offered to them.  That I will

          7  say, and at every level, by the way.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Well, the

          9  Council is certainly sensitive to the guidance

         10  counselor roles because as Councilman Fidler said,

         11  the money was restored by the Council, not for a

         12  whole lot, but certainly is restored.

         13                 I think that Councilman Jackson, Mr.

         14  Chair, that Education really needs to look at,

         15  seriously, on the elementary and the junior high,

         16  and have as much credence placed on those levels of

         17  education, and that filling the juvenile

         18  institutions is coming from elementary as well as

         19  intermediate, and that when they get to your level,

         20  we're really taking about disasterville, we're

         21  talking about a huge percentage of recidivism.  So,

         22  it seems like for every step forward, we're taking

         23  two or three back, and are not resolving  --

         24  something's just not right in the system, and I

         25  think that it needs to be unclogged, really.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

          4                 Council Member Arroyo.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Thank you,

          6  Madam Chair.

          7                 Angela, I don't think you're going to

          8  be able to answer my question, but I want, for the

          9  record, on this Committee, I am a member of the

         10  Juvenile Justice Committee, and a member of the

         11  Education Committee.  Over the last week or so, some

         12  issues have evolved with the siting of a school in

         13  my district that has raised a couple of questions in

         14  my mind about how we handle the small high school

         15  environment in the City, and what appears to be a

         16  two- tiered system that we're setting up within our

         17  educational system in the City.

         18                 Guidance counselors in these small

         19  high schools, do you represent them as well?

         20                 MS. REFORMATO:  Yes, I represent

         21  every counselor that works in New York City.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  So when you

         23  have a school that houses three different programs,

         24  South Bronx Campus in my district has three

         25  different programs, three different schools, the
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          2  numbers that you cite, are they the same or do you

          3  now have to parcel off by school, the number of

          4  counselors?

          5                 MS. REFORMATO:  Unfortunately, each

          6  of those schools that you're talking about has a

          7  principal, and each of those schools decides how

          8  they're spending their money.

          9                 So, they might have a counselor or

         10  they might not, it depends on how the principal has

         11   --  offhand I can't tell you if  --  I don't know

         12  how many students--

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  No, no, I am

         14  asking conceptually, the issue of guidance

         15  counselors in these small schools.

         16                 MS. REFORMATO:  They should each have

         17  their own counselor if they can.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  But there's

         19  no criteria and/or number that triggers a principal

         20  to think that should have X- number of counselors in

         21  my school?

         22                 MR. REFORMATO:  No, absolutely not.

         23  Usually the schools have a counselor but some of

         24  these brand new schools, when they start, if they

         25  only have 100 students, many times they won't hire a
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          2  counselor, and they'll wait until the second year,

          3  and they'll have a teacher do the programming and

          4  that kind of stuff, but no, there's no numbers that

          5  trigger it, unfortunately, you're right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Okay, so for

          7  my Chairs, in the briefing document that I read, it

          8  indicates that there's a clear correlation between

          9  the presence of educational disability, school

         10  failure, and criminal behavior.

         11                 Do we know, or can we get information

         12  that helps us compare the populations from these

         13  small schools, and these new programs to the

         14  children that are left in the mainstream system, for

         15  lack of a better term, because I don't know what to

         16  refer to it at this point, and see if  --  because I

         17  think we need to force a broader discussion about

         18  these children in these smaller high schools are

         19  almost hand- picked, they are the cream of- the-

         20  crop, and will probably succeed no matter where you

         21  put them, and the individuals that demonstrate or

         22  can be challenging in the educational system are

         23  left in these other schools to whatever, succeed or

         24  fail, and I'm not sure if there's a concern about

         25  those, for us to know whether there is a link
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          2  between these systems that are being created and

          3  criminal behavior, and/or experiences with juvenile

          4  delinquency compared to the children that are left

          5  in the mainstream schools?

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Just one last

          8  thing.  We almost touched on class size in the

          9  intermediate schools, and I did want to say

         10  something that we could consider.  Look at the model

         11  we created years ago for K, 1, 2, where we capped

         12  class size, and if a school was overcrowded, or they

         13  did not have room for the physical next class, we

         14  provided a school aid, we provided an additional

         15  body in the classroom.

         16                 If we did the same thing in 6, 7, 8,

         17  we would be getting to the crux of a problem.  The

         18  Chancellor has admitted that our intermediate

         19  schools need total restructuring.  He is working on

         20  that, he is creating small schools, theme schools,

         21  mini schools within the intermediate school.  If an

         22  initiative is to be put forth, I would think that if

         23  we looked at 6, 7, 8, capping class size, if the

         24  school cannot cap, putting in support services,

         25  that's the age group that really now needs our
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          2  focus, and I would suggest that we look in that

          3  area.

          4                 I think what you said is very, very

          5  interesting and provoked a lot of thought, and I

          6  thank you.

          7                 MS. REFORMATO:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  No further

          9  questions.

         10                 Thank you Angela, thank you for your

         11  testimony.

         12                 MS. REFORMATO:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  And thank you

         14  for your commitment.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Sara?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Councilman

         17  Fidler.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  It's just

         19  directed to the comment that Council Member Vacca

         20  just made, and I just  --  it shouldn't be a hard

         21  sell to this City Administration that the point you

         22  made is accurate and correct because they have now

         23  come at DYCD to the Youth Services Committee, and

         24  indicated that they want Beacon Programs to

         25  concentrate on intermediate school kids, because
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          2  they recognize the important sensitivity or the fact

          3  that they're kind of at the watershed moment, and

          4  that there is a lack of focus and a lack of services

          5  on them.  So, this Administration has already made

          6  that decision.

          7                 The problem, of course, is getting

          8  them to put their money where their mouth is, as is

          9  the case with the Beacon Program where they want it

         10  done but they aren't really offering to pay for it.

         11                 So, I just wanted to make that point

         12  because I think you are exactly correct.  The

         13  problem is affecting the solution that everyone

         14  seems to agree on.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you,

         16  councilman.

         17                 Please step to the table, Nancy

         18  Ginsburg and Nancy Rosenbloom from the Legal Aid

         19  Society, and state your name for the record.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 MS. GINSBURG:  Good afternoon, my

         22  name is Nancy Ginsburg and I am an attorney with the

         23  Criminal Defense Practice of the Legal Aid Society,

         24  and with me is Nancy Rosenbloom, an attorney with

         25  the Juvenile Rights Practice.
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          2                 We thank the Committees on Education

          3  and Juvenile Justice for focusing this hearing on

          4  the importance of identifying early indicators of

          5  learning problems and emotional disabilities in

          6  order to reduce the number of young people arrested,

          7  charged and eventually entering the juvenile and

          8  criminal court systems in New York City.  The dire

          9  consequences to a child and his or her family

         10  resulting from being swept up in the juvenile or

         11  adult court systems can be avoided in many cases by

         12  community- based prevention efforts.  Our schools

         13  are a crucial piece of these efforts.

         14                 The Legal Aid Society is the nation's

         15  largest and oldest provider of legal services to

         16  poor people.  The Juvenile Rights Practice provides

         17  comprehensive representation in New York City Family

         18  Courts.  Last year, our attorney and social workers

         19  represented more than 27,000 children, including

         20  approximately 4,000 aged seven through 15 in

         21  delinquency matters.  The Criminal Defense Practice

         22  handled some 210,000 cases each year.  Many of the

         23  clients served by our staff are teenage girls and

         24  boys aged 13 and over who are prosecuted in the

         25  adult courts.
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          2                 We applaud the Committees' attention

          3  to the particular educational needs of at- risk

          4  children, and hope that the Council's continued

          5  efforts will press for more extensive and improved

          6  early identification of the special needs of at-

          7  risk children in schools around New York City.  We

          8  believe that if these needs are identified and

          9  addressed with appropriate services at a young age,

         10  many fewer children will end up being referred to

         11  the court system for prosecution as they get older.

         12                 Before I get into the subject of this

         13  hearing, I'm going to defer to Ms. Rosenbloom to

         14  discuss the litigation that is going on just to

         15  provide an overview of what we're not talking about

         16  today.

         17                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  Hi, I'm Nancy

         18  Rosenbloom an attorney with the Legal Aid Society's

         19  Juvenile Rights Practice.

         20                 I just wanted to reiterate what

         21  Chairman Jackson said earlier, which is that it is

         22  correct that the subject of the litigation in which

         23  the Legal Aid Society is counsel for the plaintiff

         24  students is completely different from the subject

         25  matter of this hearing.  So, we are disappointed
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          2  that the DOE choose not to come.

          3                 Just very briefly, this hearing is

          4  about prevention efforts.  It's about what the

          5  Department of Education, and its teachers and other

          6  personnel, and principals and administrators can do

          7  to identify the needs of children, to identify the

          8  risk factors, and address them so that those

          9  children don't end up getting arrested.

         10                 The Federal Court litigation is a

         11  case that students have brought against the City and

         12  State Departments' of Education about what happens

         13  after children are jailed or incarcerated, and are

         14  trying to return back to their schools.           So

         15  , those are two very different topics, and we're

         16  very happy today to be talking about programs in the

         17  community that can head off criminal and juvenile

         18  justice involvement, and now I'll turn it back to my

         19  colleague.

         20                 MS. GINSBURG:  The research from

         21  around the country has confirmed the needs that we

         22  see every day in our client population.  It has

         23  shown that early identification and provision of

         24  services successfully diverts children from juvenile

         25  justice involvement, which in the end saves lives
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          2  and money.

          3                 Two of the primary barriers to

          4  accessing educational services are the failure to

          5  properly identify and address learning disabilities

          6  and mental health needs, and the failure of our

          7  public school system to offer appropriate programs

          8  to address the needs of students with poor literacy

          9  skills.

         10                 The ultimate outcome of this pattern

         11  of neglect that begins with the failure to ensure

         12  academic and social success in school is a lifetime

         13  of poverty and unemployment or under- employment,

         14  periodic incarceration, frequent substance abuse,

         15  and failure to establish or maintain supportive

         16  relationships with others.  While public schools are

         17  certainly not responsible for all of the social

         18  problems of children, they can increase or reduce

         19  the vulnerability of children to these negative

         20  outcomes.

         21                 As set forth in the Council's

         22  testimony, the prevalence of these learning and

         23  mental health disorders in the juvenile justice

         24  population lends support to the conclusion that the

         25  court system is a default system where many youth
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          2  who cannot read, write or relate find themselves

          3  when they drop out or are forced out of school.

          4                 This knowledge puts schools on notice

          5  that they must recognize that youth at risk for

          6  court involvement, including students with

          7  disabilities must receive support and preventive

          8  services to minimize their vulnerability.  There is

          9  a great deal of evidence of the strong connection

         10  between academic and behavioral problems.  Students

         11  with significant academic skill deficits are often

         12  adverse to academic work.  The research shows that

         13  in schools, students with academic deficits are more

         14  likely to be exposed to negative interaction and

         15  punishment and are likely to be presented with less

         16  demanding academic tasks, and to have less

         17  instructional time with their teachers.  Many

         18  discipline referrals stem from minor school

         19  disruptions, such as noncompliance with teachers'

         20  expectations for academic activities.  Yet students

         21  with academic deficits should be the least likely to

         22  be removed from the classroom, because excluding

         23  students from academic instruction further reduces

         24  the amount of academic instruction they receive,

         25  thus making the work even harder for them.  This
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          2  sets the stage for additional behavioral challenges

          3  and further exclusion from classroom instruction,

          4  and an escalating cycle is established.  Students

          5  who are frequently suspended may fall behind

          6  academically and have difficulty catching up,

          7  perpetrating a cycle of academic failure and

          8  misbehavior.

          9                 In New York City, students up to age

         10  17 are legally required to be in school.  Students

         11  who have not graduated with a high school diploma,

         12  and those with disabilities have the legal right to

         13  remain in school until age 21 or until the

         14  achievement of a diploma.

         15                 We have found, however, that many of

         16  our clients facing charges in Family, Criminal and

         17  Supreme Courts are not receiving appropriate

         18  educational services at the time of their arrest and

         19  entry to the court system.  Many students in New

         20  York City high schools, particularly those students

         21  who are over- age for their grade level or have few

         22  credits, have been improperly "pushed out."  In our

         23  experience, the majority of the young people facing

         24  charges are performing far below their grade level

         25  in both reading and math.  Some are classified as
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          2  being in need of special education services but are

          3  not being provided with what is required by their

          4  individualized education plans.  Others should have

          5  been evaluated and placed in special education

          6  services, but their needs were not timely identified

          7  by their schools.  Many youth are truant by the time

          8  they see a judge because they have fallen far behind

          9  in school, and are too embarrassed or too frustrated

         10  to stay in school.  Truancy ranks as one of the most

         11  often- cited bases for judges' remands to detention

         12  and eventual placement, particularly in Family

         13  Court.

         14                 Since pre- trial detention has been

         15  shown to be one of the greatest predictors of

         16  eventual out- of- home placement or incarceration,

         17  the failure to identify needs and provide

         18  appropriate services as early as possible in a

         19  child's educational history contributes heavily to

         20  the spiral of incarceration.

         21                 The level of need among school- aged

         22  children in New York City is not in dispute.  Our

         23  own City agencies who are involved with these young

         24  people have documented the data.

         25                 In Fiscal Year 2006, the Department
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          2  of Juvenile Justice identified that 68 percent of

          3  the youth held in their custody as being in need of

          4  mental health services.  In the State's post-

          5  adjudication residential facilities, the Office of

          6  Children and Family Services, 90 percent of youth

          7  entering their facilities were identified as having

          8  at least one special need, including mental health

          9  services, required by fully 52 percent of the

         10  children.  Moreover, the majority of youth detained

         11  in DJJ facilities are in need of special education

         12  services and 90 percent of the students, whose

         13  average age is 15, read below the 7th grade level,

         14  while 25 percent read below the 4th grade level.

         15  Eighty- three percent of these students have math

         16  skills below the 7th grade level.  DJJ admits nearly

         17  6,000 youth each year.

         18                 Further, the City's Department of

         19  Education reports that, of students in grades three

         20  to eight, 48 percent fail to meet or exceed

         21  standards in English and Language Arts, and 47

         22  percent fail to meet or exceed standards in math.

         23  Nevertheless, 41 percent of these children scoring

         24  below standards in English progress to a higher

         25  level and 48 percent scoring below standards in math
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          2  progress to the next grade. These early indicators

          3  of failure are borne out later by the low high

          4  school graduation rates from our public schools:

          5  Only 58.2 percent of general education students and

          6  ten percent of special education students graduate

          7  in four years.

          8                 Significantly, 22 percent of

          9  elementary and middle school students are in schools

         10  that exceed capacity and 67 percent of high school

         11  students are in schools that exceed capacity.  Such

         12  overcrowding exacerbates the challenge of giving at-

         13  risk students individualized attention.

         14                 Our experience demonstrates that many

         15  of our clients fell behind academically years and

         16  years before their arrest.

         17                 There are too many stories to tell in

         18  the amount of time that we have today, but a pending

         19  case provides an example that reflect the experience

         20  of many of our clients.

         21                 We currently represent a teenage boy

         22  who has been diagnosed with a serious mental

         23  illness, and a learning disability.  Although the

         24  school records indicated that he was trying to

         25  comply with the demands of school, he was unable to
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          2  do so.  He had trouble sitting still, and speaking

          3  in turn.  Despite the school's obvious awareness of

          4  his many deficits, the school made no efforts to

          5  place him in a more appropriate school setting and

          6  to obtain additional services for him pending a new

          7  school placement.  If appropriate services had been

          8  provided, he many have been successfully diverted

          9  from the school (sic) system.

         10                 Legal Aid also represents hundreds of

         11  students each year who are suspended from school and

         12  placed by the DOE in alternative school sites.

         13  Despite the requirement in the Chancellor's

         14  Regulations that schoolwork must be provided to

         15  students by the suspending school prior to the

         16  resolution of the suspension, our experience

         17  demonstrates that compliance is rare. This increases

         18  the students' disconnect with the educational

         19  process, and causes them to fall behind, a situation

         20  that some children find themselves unable to remedy.

         21                 Discipline is ineffective if it does

         22  nothing to change behavior but simply removes the

         23  student from the school, and makes the child a

         24  community problem.

         25                 These policies also have a tremendous
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          2  impact on children of color.  African- American and

          3  Latino youth from New York City are

          4  disproportionately represented in the juvenile and

          5  criminal court systems.

          6                 In the general population, 31.5

          7  percent of children aged zero to 17 in New York City

          8  are African- American, and 34.5 percent are Latino.

          9  However, 57 percent of the population of youth

         10  placed in OCFS facilities by Family or Supreme Court

         11  is African-American, and 67 percent of those youth

         12  come from New York City.  Similarly, 20 percent of

         13  the population of youth placed in OCFS facilities by

         14  Family or Supreme Court is Latino, and 81 percent of

         15  those youth come from New York City.

         16                 Although the New York City Department

         17  of Juvenile Justice no longer posts statistics

         18  related to race on its website, almost the entire

         19  detention population consistently has been composed

         20  of youth of color, approximately 60 percent of those

         21  detained pre-trial are African-American, and

         22  approximately 37 percent are Latino.

         23                 There have been some studies done by

         24  national, educational and juvenile justice

         25  organizations looking at programs that can work to
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          2  divert children from the juvenile and criminal court

          3  systems, and recently a very important study was

          4  done in Kentucky and it is laid out in our

          5  testimony, and I won't go into the entire study,

          6  where they examined variables characterizing high-

          7  and- low- performing elementary schools, in which

          8  the preponderance of students were from low- income

          9  homes. The schools that had both a high poverty rate

         10  and a high achievement rate had the following

         11  characteristics; small enrollments, good school

         12  conditions, higher spending per pupil, increased

         13  numbers of adult/student interactions, cohesive

         14  staff and administration, effective academic

         15  instruction, higher level of student engagement,

         16  lower suspension rates, higher attendance rates,

         17  higher rates of parent involvement were all found to

         18  be important in increasing the ability of the

         19  children to succeed, even if they came from poverty,

         20  high poverty neighborhoods.

         21                 It was also found that implementation

         22  of individualized instruction, rewards for positive

         23  behavior, goal oriented work, and small class sizes

         24  have been effective in reducing dropout rates and

         25  potentially deterring delinquent behavior.
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          2                 We support the UFT position that

          3  classroom teachers must be adequately trained in

          4  appropriate behavior management so that misbehavior

          5  does not escalate into confrontation and disruption.

          6                 The only thing I would add to the UFT

          7  position is that although the State recommendations

          8  for counselors set forth different ratios for

          9  elementary school, middle school and high school, we

         10  would submit that those ratios must be modified for

         11  high poverty, high- risk neighborhoods, such as

         12  almost all of the City schools and the City

         13  neighborhoods.  The difference between a very well

         14  off, Westchester suburban school, the difference in

         15  their need for counseling are obviously quite, quite

         16  different than a school in Central Harlem, on the

         17  Lower East Side, in the South Bronx, the entire

         18  family makeup is completely different, when you look

         19  at the different neighborhoods in the City, and many

         20  of the much more well off suburban schools, and I

         21  would submit that although the State recommends,

         22  perhaps, one to 250 in a school such as you were

         23  referring to in the South Bronx, those ratios should

         24  be set much, much lower to address the needs of

         25  those children.
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          2                 We again commend the Council's

          3  attention to the ongoing problems of these children,

          4  and we look forward to working with the Committee's

          5  and others to ensure that the government agencies

          6  that can have the greatest impact on the lives of

          7  these needy young people will provide comprehensive

          8  and badly needed preventive, and treatment services.

          9

         10                 We ask the Council to continue to

         11  press the Department of Education to identify the

         12  needs of our children early and accurately so that

         13  services can be provided, and young people can

         14  obtain the educational and related services to which

         15  they are entitled to, and that will make them

         16  productive members of this City.

         17                 Thank you for giving us the

         18  opportunity to testify.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you so

         20  much for your testimony.

         21                 I have a question.  In your

         22  testimony, you stated that many of the clients fall

         23  behind academically years before their arrests.  How

         24  many years?

         25                 MS. GINSBURG:  We have clients--
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Would it

          3  depend on the age of  --  when the child was

          4  arrested each time?

          5                 MS. GINSBURG:  It depends on the

          6  client.  I mean, we have clients who based on a

          7  review of their school records, were already behind

          8  in 2nd grade, and we have clients who did

          9  not fall behind until much later.  It's obviously an

         10  individualized--

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Obvious to you

         12  from your experience that it's many years before?

         13  That's what you are saying?

         14                 MS. GINSBURG:  Yes.  Our average 15-

         15  year- old client is reading somewhere between a 4th

         16  and 6th grade level.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Before I go

         18  onto the other questions, in respect to DJJ, when

         19  was the last time you saw the numbers on Latino and

         20  whatever arrests?  Do you know?

         21                 MS. GINSBURG:  I think  --  I'm doing

         22  this off the top of my head.  I think they have them

         23  posted on their website as recently as maybe 2002 or

         24  2003, but they're certainly not on there now.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Okay, and then
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          2  I just want to know from your experience and from

          3  working with these clients day in and day out, what

          4  interventions, and I know you stated some of the

          5  things that you thought could happen, or maybe down

          6  the line you could give us a listing of those

          7  recommendations, interventions which would help

          8  learning disabled kids stay in school and out of

          9  trouble from you experience.

         10                 I mean, you could state some, and you

         11  did speak about some here but is that something that

         12  you could get to us later on as well?

         13                 MS. GINSBURG:  We could certainly

         14  give it to you later on.   Many of our kids have

         15  serious mental health diagnoses, which are  --  go

         16  undiagnosed for many, many years, and because of

         17  their mental health diagnosis or their mental health

         18  problem, which is undiagnosed, they are just

         19  characterized as having behavioral problems, and

         20  they tend to be put off in classes where they're not

         21  receiving services at all for their mental health

         22  problems.

         23                 Many of our kids have serious

         24  learning disabilities which are undetected.  We find

         25  that many of the kids in the court system have
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          2  either mental health or learning disabilities which

          3  are not properly diagnosed, and which go for many

          4  years characterized as behavioral problems.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  One last

          6  question from my part.  In your experience, again,

          7  is DOE providing adequate assessments and services

          8  for its learning disabled students.  If not, what

          9  more can be done?  If you have to come back to me

         10  and give me some recommendations, I would appreciate

         11  it.

         12                 MS. GINSBURG:  I think we'd like to

         13  come back to you with that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Okay, thank

         15  you.

         16                 Councilman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Before I begin,

         18  just let me introduce my other colleagues that have

         19  arrived.  To my right you have Helen Diane Foster of

         20  the Bronx, and to my left James Sanders, Jr. of

         21  Queens, and Dan Garodnick of Manhattan.

         22                 Let to turn to Council Member Foster

         23  first and entertain some questions, but also, to her

         24  right is Council Member Darlene Mealy of Brooklyn

         25  that has arrived also.
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          2                 Council Member Foster.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Question, the

          4    --  I know Charles Schwab years ago did a study

          5  and found a direct correlation between those that

          6  were incarcerated, and it wasn't just youth, and

          7  undiagnosed learning disabilities.

          8                 What percentage, if you have that

          9  number, could you say of the juveniles that we are

         10  seeing have undiagnosed learning disabilities or

         11  just misdiagnosed in that the support isn't there?

         12                 MS. GINSBURG:  Well, I can  --  the

         13  numbers are kind of all over the range as far as

         14  kids who have been actually diagnosed, and recently

         15  a study was done looking at all of the studies

         16  nationally, and the number that they came up with

         17  was 32 percent, or 32- and- a- half percent.

         18                 Based on what we've seen, and the

         19  advocacy that we've done, I would have to say that

         20  the number is well over 50 percent, whether it's

         21  between  --  maybe somewhere between 50 and 75, it's

         22  a big range.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  It appears to

         24  me, and I asked that question because I am dyslexic,

         25  I'm very involved in the International Dyslexic
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          2  Association, and dealing with adults dyslexia,

          3  juveniles when they are diagnosed, and on and on,

          4  that number, the 32 percent strikes me as very low,

          5  and I wonder how much in the educational system are

          6  own preconceived notions or stereotypes play a role

          7  in the misdiagnosed  --  children being

          8  misdiagnosed, especially children of color, because

          9  when you were testifying you were saying that a

         10  large number are young people of color.

         11                 MS. GINSBURG:  Part of the problem is

         12  that it takes a lot of money to do a very good

         13  evaluation.  Not a tremendous amount of money, but

         14  it takes money.  It takes more money than just

         15  looking at a kid who appears to be a behavioral

         16  problem, and saying,`you're more than a behavioral

         17  problem.' And so, there needs to be a dedication of

         18  qualified, trained staff who can do real, meaningful

         19  psychological examinations, who can do real social

         20  history's, who can do real educational evaluations,

         21  so that these disabilities can be discovered.  Until

         22  there is a commitment to putting forth these kinds

         23  of evaluations for all kids who come forward with

         24   --  who appear to have just behavioral problems,

         25  this cycle will continue of having so many
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          2  undiagnosed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  And just

          4  lastly, is there a jurisdiction that you know of in

          5  place that has that type of screening where upon

          6  entering, possibly, the juvenile justice system for

          7  the first time, and it looks very behavioral, that

          8  they have that screening in place?

          9                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  Your questions

         10  raises  --  I'm going to answer it in two ways.  One

         11  is that we see in the Family Court in particular,

         12  once a child has been arrested and brought before

         13  the Family Court, when a judge is considering

         14  whether to remand a child to detention or place a

         15  child, rather than leave him or her at home, the

         16  Court has a mental health service which does an

         17  evaluation.  Those evaluations, we know what the

         18  real needs of the kids are, those evaluations are

         19  usually a 20 minute interview with the child, after

         20  which, a conduct disorder is diagnosed and a

         21  placement recommendation is made.  Uniformly,

         22  conduct disorder, conduct disorder, conduct

         23  disorder.

         24                 When we are able to get the funds to

         25  do private evaluations of these children, we see
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          2  learning disabilities, mental health needs, all the

          3  things that you would want from a really good

          4  evaluation that you would do for your own child, and

          5  these are our own children.

          6                 So, once we're in the court system

          7  it's too late already because they've been

          8  misdiagnosed, and it's very hard to get those

          9  services in place.

         10                 Back in the school system, where

         11  we're focusing on today, again, the UFT testified

         12  about the inadequate numbers of guidance counselors,

         13  and we see every day a lack of funding and services

         14  aimed at understanding these issues, and what Ms.

         15  Ginsburg said is absolutely correct.  In New York

         16  City with the high poverty, with relatively lower

         17  education rates of many parents who just don't know

         18  what to be looking for, and what specialists to look

         19  for, it's all the more urgent that the schools have

         20  these programs in place.

         21                 There are models around the country,

         22  and if you wanted to get some information we could

         23  provide that later as well where things are working,

         24  and kids are able to stay in the community at much

         25  lower financial cost, and vastly lower human cost.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  I would

          3  assume that in those jurisdictions where they're

          4  pretty good models, there is a close relationship

          5  with their Department of Ed/Board of Ed in terms of

          6  working together in this diagnosis or getting the

          7  children the help they need?

          8                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  Yes, certainly the

          9  school personnel are the front line, they're the

         10  people who are seeing the kids every day, and can

         11  identify issues.

         12                 So, instead of being overworked and

         13  undertrained, and not having the skill-set to be

         14  able to make correct referrals, in a model program

         15  you would have people who really did know how to do

         16  that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Thank you.

         18                 MS. GINSBURG:  Let me just add one

         19  thing.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Yes.

         21                 MS. GINSBURG:  I can tell you that we

         22  do a tremendous amount of educational advocacy for

         23  our clients, and when we are able to have these

         24  evaluations done for our clients, and have them

         25  properly diagnosed and evaluated, we often can work
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          2  with the Department of Education in placing those

          3  children in appropriate school programs.

          4  Unfortunately for our clients, those placements come

          5  after they've been arrested, and had they come

          6  before they were arrested, they might never had been

          7  arrested.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  It's true.

          9  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Council Member

         11  Felder of Brooklyn.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 You said earlier that it would cost

         15  more, not that much more, to do the evaluations

         16  properly.

         17                 Can you give me an idea?

         18                 MS. GINSBURG:  I really  --  I

         19  couldn't talk about absolute numbers citywide for

         20  the DOE.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Okay.

         22                 MS. GINSBURG:  I mean, I'm sure they

         23  could, had they come, but I think that in some  --

         24  we have seen in some boroughs, in some regions, in

         25  some regional offices where the committees on
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          2  Special Ed are seated, some of those regions tend to

          3  be better staffed than others, and tend to be able

          4  to do the evaluations quicker, and go to hearing

          5  quicker because they have better staff, and I'm sure

          6  if all of the regions were equally staffed, and even

          7  if all those regions were staffed a bit more, they

          8  could do more evaluations.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Yes, but

         10  that's not what I asked you.  I want to know how

         11  much more it will cost.

         12                 You said earlier that if done

         13  properly, and it doesn't cost  --  I don't want to

         14  misquote you but it sounded to me like you were

         15  saying that if you spend a little extra money, you

         16  will really get the product that you need to

         17  evaluate these children properly, and I'd like to

         18  know what that means.

         19                 MS. GINSBURG:  It's hard for me to

         20  address absolute budget numbers for the DOE at this

         21  point.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Well, can you

         23  tell me if is it ten percent more, is it 20 percent

         24  more?

         25                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  Well, let's start
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          2  with early intervention services, which are services

          3  for children aged birth to three- years- old.

          4  There's Federal funding available for that, they're

          5  required.  So if properly accessed, that would cost

          6  no more money from New York City.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  So, is it

          8  being accessed properly?

          9                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  There's a widespread

         10  lack of knowledge about these programs, and they're

         11  underutilized.

         12                 When they're utilized, they're good,

         13  and then those children start out in pre- school

         14  with needs having been identified.

         15                 When we hire people to do educational

         16  evaluations and full evaluations for our clients

         17  once they're already in trouble, the cost varies

         18  depending upon what you're looking at.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Yes, so let

         20  me just again start out.

         21                 So, early intervention would cost the

         22  City no additional money, but if it was taken

         23  advantage of, that means that the earliest times  --

         24    at the earliest time which you could possibly

         25  diagnose some sort of learning disability, it would
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          2  cost the City no money whatsoever.

          3                 So if there were hearings with people

          4  from the Education Department, no one would be able

          5  to say that at that age it's going to cost the City

          6  money, is that true?

          7                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  I just want to

          8  clarify that I said there are Federal dollars

          9  available.  I'm not sure exactly of how the

         10  pass-through works, and whether there's a percentage

         11  City contribution, but as in so many Federal

         12  programs where dollars are passed down, there is a

         13  smaller local component that goes with it, but you

         14  can access the Federal money in that way, does

         15  anybody know?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Does anyone

         17  on our staff, does anyone know what  -- well, if we

         18  can find out, I think that's important.

         19                 But if the majority of the money,

         20  certainly is coming from early intervention, and

         21  then after that step, before you got to the

         22  incarceration, what about after that step?  After

         23  the early intervention age?  You said, I assume it

         24  was a generalization.

         25                 MS. GINSBURG:  Well, here's the
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          2  reality:  The kids who are being pulled out of the

          3  schools at an early age, as having just behavioral

          4  problems, and are being tagged as having just

          5  behavioral problems, if those kids were just

          6  referred to the already existing committees on

          7  Special Education for evaluation, then there is a

          8  likelihood, I would submit, a strong likelihood

          9  that at least some percentage of those kids would be

         10  diagnosed with learning disabilities or emotional

         11  disabilities, and the structure is already set up.

         12  But because so many of those kids are never even

         13  referred to the Committee of Special Education, they

         14  go undiagnosed for their entire academic career. So,

         15  it wouldn't cost any money for those kids.

         16                 Now, if the numbers of referrals

         17  became so high that the existing committees on

         18  Special Education could not handle them, then that

         19  would be a different story but at this point, I

         20  would say it's speculative as to whether or not

         21  additional funding would be needed.

         22                 It's unclear at this point because

         23  it's our position that the kids at this point are

         24  being under-referred as to whether or not the

         25  Committees on Special Education could handle an

                                                            88

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND EDUCATION

          2  additional ten percent or 20 percent.  We're not in

          3  a position to know that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  We have the

          5  chair of the Education Department, and our

          6  Chairwoman Gonzalez  --  I appreciate the fact that

          7  you're holding this hearing, but you know it's

          8  really somewhat bizarre that we're sitting here

          9  listening to this stuff and the State certainly, and

         10  the City's mandates testing for education, and every

         11  politician talks about how well kids are doing math,

         12  every other topic, and I think that the money that's

         13  invested in the testing, I have no idea of the

         14  numbers, but I would assume that it's very

         15  expensive, very expensive to make those tests, and

         16  we pay them to do those tests to prove what a

         17  wonderful job we're doing, okay?  But yet, the

         18  smaller investment to make sure that kids are tested

         19  early on to figure out whether they have any

         20  disabilities and can get treated so we're giving

         21  them a life sentence early on.

         22                 It means a four or five- year- old

         23   --  there's no question that my colleague talked

         24   --  Helen talked about some disability she has,

         25  there's not question that if I had not had
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          2  intervention in Yeshiva by some of the teachers who

          3  made sure they brought an outside, and at that time

          4  there were nurses in every parochial school, that

          5  got tested.  I mean, I still have problems and

          6  everyone knows that, but there's no  --  I don't

          7  know why no one disagreed, but in all seriousness,

          8  if I had not gotten some of the help that I needed

          9  at the time, there's no way, there's no way that I

         10  would have ever graduated high school, never.  I

         11  don't know if I would have gotten close to it.

         12                 So to me, the fact that we're

         13  spending this time here today, it's really bizarre

         14  that not to have enough  --  we talked about

         15  numbers, whether it's one to 250, somebody from the

         16  UFT said about 400, 500, 1,000.  I mean, I felt like

         17  I'm talking about a meat market.  There's no way in

         18  the world, there's no way in the world.

         19                 So, I don't have much to say but you

         20  talk about here's reality, the reality is that thank

         21  God Chairman Jackson was hopping to Albany, walking

         22  to Albany to try to get capital money.  I'm not

         23  prepared or in shape to hop to Albany to do the same

         24  for this, but it's clear  --  I would just say that

         25  I thank the Chairs for holding the hearing, that we
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          2  need something very drastic, very drastic, because

          3  the money that's being spent on education, I don't

          4  give a hoot about the math or anything else, because

          5  at the end of the day, if a child grows up being

          6  satisfied and has self esteem about what they're

          7  doing, it's irrelevant whether they can add or do

          8  anything else.  At the end of the day, if they are

          9  able to get through life feeling good about

         10  themselves, they'll do okay.  They may wind up being

         11  a carpenter or even a councilman, but if they do not

         12  get that help they're cooked.

         13                 So, whatever we can do is critical,

         14  and I thank you.

         15                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  I would like to just

         16  respond in part to that.  That if you like math, and

         17  you want to look at the numbers, look at the cost of

         18  detention.

         19                 Forgetting the human cost, which we

         20  see every day, which is devastating, look at the

         21  numbers.  How much are we spending to detain these

         22  children?  Over $100,000 a year on an annualized

         23  basis, and how much comparatively does it cost to

         24  diagnose and serve kids needs in school?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Sure, thank you
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          2  Council Member Felder.

          3                 We have been joined by Council Member

          4  Bill deBlasio of Brooklyn.

          5                 Attorneys, let me ask you a couple of

          6  questions if you don't mind.  I understand that when

          7  I was out of the room, you had indicated, I think

          8  Attorney Rosenbloom that you also felt that the

          9  topic of this particular hearing was not the subject

         10  of the litigation, I believe, that your agency is

         11  involved with, is that correct?

         12                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  Yes, the two of us

         13  sitting her personally are counsel for the plaintiff

         14  class in that litigation, so we're very, very

         15  familiar with it.  It has absolutely nothing to do

         16  with preventive services.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Because we're

         18  talking about what type of  --  the role that

         19  education officials and staff in identifying early

         20  indicators of juvenile delinquency, and in diverting

         21  juveniles from this system itself.

         22                 That's not the subject of your

         23  litigation, is it?

         24                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  It is not at all the

         25  subject of that litigation.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

          3                 Attorney Ginsburg, you had indicated,

          4  I guess, in some of your testimony the fact that

          5  many of the youth that are incarcerated and many of

          6  them are subsequently diagnosed as individuals with

          7  special needs and thus, may have an IEP or did not

          8  come into the juvenile justice system with an IEP.

          9  Do you know if those individual students had IEP's

         10  in school, or was it determined that they did not

         11  have an IEP in school, and as a result of that being

         12  examined and determining that they had special

         13  needs?

         14                 MS. GINSBURG:  We will try to get our

         15  clients' entire school record when we are assigned

         16  to represent them, and some of our clients have

         17  IEP's but they're extremely out of date. We'll pick

         18  up a client, perhaps when he's 15 years old, the IEP

         19  will be, sometimes, more than three years old.

         20                 Other times there is no IEP but it

         21  appears to us that the child is having some problem

         22  either communicating with us, or processing

         23  information just in our conversations, our

         24  communications with him or her, and then we will

         25  refer, or we will ask the Court to refer that child
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          2  for an evaluation.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And

          4  subsequently a majority of those individuals that

          5  you asked the Court to refer to an evaluation, I

          6  guess the evaluators determine that there are

          7  special needs for those  --  the majority of those

          8  individuals?

          9                 MS. GINSBURG:  Well, let's put it

         10  this way.  We're just lawyers, and if we can pick it

         11  up, the chances are they usually have some kind of

         12  disability.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Right, and

         14  that's  --  I clearly get that from your testimony.

         15  What that says to me, sitting here as a legislator,

         16  in evaluating this subject area that we're talking

         17  about, is in that the system itself, meaning the

         18  Department of Education who's responsible if these

         19  students are in school, that means that the system,

         20  the educators and/or other people involved, and I'm

         21  talking about everyone involved in that students

         22  life in school, is not picking up, and so that the

         23  system is not, I guess, having evaluations done to

         24  all of the students like it needs to happen.  That's

         25  the impression that I received.
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          2                 MS. GINSBURG:  Some of the concern is

          3  that a certain percentage of the kids have been  --

          4  who are in the Court system, have been or are

          5  currently in foster care, and many of those kids are

          6  moved from school to school to school.  There's no

          7  real continuity of instruction or evaluation for

          8  those kids, and because of that, the schools fail

          9  because they spend a short period in each school.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  But is that the

         11  majority of the clients that you are talking about?

         12                 MS. GINSBURG:  No, no.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You're talking

         14  about that there are situations like that.

         15                 MS. GINSBURG:  There are situations

         16  like that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Right, I'm

         18  sure.

         19                 MS. GINSBURG:  Although, since ACS is

         20  involved, ACS really should be the agency that's

         21  coordinating those efforts for evaluation, but the

         22  majority of the kids are not in that class of kids,

         23  and we're just not seeing that their needs are being

         24  picked up, or if they are being picked up, they are

         25  not being picked up accurately.
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          2                 Sometimes we have kids that are

          3  diagnosed with emotional disabilities who actually

          4  also have learning disabilities, and the reason why

          5  they're acting out is because they are unable to

          6  process the information in school.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So as attorneys

          8  involved, or attorneys working for the Legal Aid

          9  Society, I sort have concluded that it's your

         10  opinion, and I'm asking you whether or not this is

         11  your opinion, that the system, before these youth

         12  get to the  --  in front of the judges, is not

         13  working too well?

         14                 MS. GINSBURG:  For a certain

         15  percentage of these kids, yes.  Not for all.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, I'm

         17  talking about the percentage  --  the majority of

         18  the children that come in front of you as attorneys,

         19  representing them in court, let's talk about the

         20  hole, that class.

         21                 MS. GINSBURG:  Well certainly not all

         22  of our clients have learning disabilities or

         23  emotional disabilities, or mental health problems.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, but of

         25  the
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          2  group --

          3                 MS. GINSBURG:  But of the group that

          4  do, many, many of them are underserved.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So in essence

          6  you would say that  --  then I can conclude that

          7  you're saying that many are not serviced properly,

          8  that the system is not working well for them?

          9                 MS. GINSBURG:  For them, yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Is that

         11  correct?

         12                 MS. GINSBURG:  That is correct.

         13                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  And I'd just like to

         14  add that even when we're looking beyond students

         15  with disabilities, the schools are not also able to

         16  identify and address disciplinary problems early,

         17  truancy and disciplinary problems.

         18                 Instead of isolating those children,

         19  taking them away from academic work, automatically

         20  excluding them, you see it in study after study that

         21  the effective things to do are to intervene early to

         22  have more adult/student interactions, to have

         23  teachers working with parents, et cetera, and to

         24  have teachers and other school personnel trained in

         25  how to do a real behavioral intervention plan, and
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          2  how to follow it up, instead of just having that

          3  required thing be just a piece of paper that gets

          4  stuck in the file.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  In part of your

          6  testimony you talked about the impact where students

          7  are leaving, I guess, the public school system and

          8  then stepping into the criminal justice system as a

          9  juvenile, and I guess the lack of services that's

         10  being provided as far as education once they get in.

         11                 What is the impact on students, if

         12  you have an opinion, by not having appropriate

         13  continuity of educational services being provided

         14  for them while they're in school during the judicial

         15  process before they are  --  let's assume that they

         16  are sentenced, for example, to let's say 18 months

         17  or two years in an Upstate facility, and it takes

         18  them a year to adjudicate their case  --  what's the

         19  impact of not having a good educational services or

         20  the continuity of educational services being

         21  provided to youth?

         22                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  Now we're talking

         23  about our litigation, which we're happy to talk

         24  about but if the Department of Ed were here, they

         25  could be answering all of your questions, and
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          2  perhaps on this one they would say,`we'd rather not'

          3  because it's a subject in litigation.

          4                 But, let me just tell you what's in

          5  our public court papers, and affidavits, and briefs,

          6  and all the information we can--

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, I didn't

          8  really want to get into the court, but that's fine,

          9  you can talk about it.

         10                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  But I'm just making

         11  a little bit of a joke because this is a question

         12  that is a little bit in that arena, and we're happy

         13  to answer it based on what we can talk about, what's

         14  publicly in the court record, which certainly is

         15  that the discontinuity is there, and that it causes

         16  children to fall behind.

         17                 When young people are detained, even

         18  for a month or two, and then go back to the

         19  community, and they're not able to re- enroll and

         20  they're not able to make up the work, as they are

         21  legally entitled to do, they can loose a grade, and

         22  if you're already too old for your grade or short on

         23  credits in high school, you're much less likely to

         24  keep going to school if you've lost another semester

         25  or another whole year, even because of a very brief
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          2  involvement in an out- of- home placement, and when

          3  it gets longer, it can be much more disruptive.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And as a result

          5  of that, you can even point to, and lead to

          6  conclusion, that that leads to more young people

          7  dropping out of school.

          8                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  Absolutely, and

          9  there are studies, there are national studies, that

         10  show that, as well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Any other

         12  questions anyone?

         13                 We want to thank you both for coming

         14  in and giving testimony, and we appreciate it very

         15  much, and my regards to all of the people at the

         16  Legal Aid Society.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Amy Roza

         19  please, and Adam Mansky, please step to the table

         20  and state your name for the record.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 MR. MANSKY:  Hi, my name is Adam

         23  Mansky, and I'm Director of Operations at the Center

         24  for Court Innovation, and I am here with Amy Roza,

         25  who's our Director of Youth and Family Services.
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          2                 We'd like to thank both Committees,

          3  as well as Chair Gonzalez and Chair Jackson for the

          4  opportunity  --  for inviting us to speak today

          5  about the role of Youth Court as a diversion from

          6  the formal juvenile justice system, as well as an

          7  alternative to school suspension.

          8                 We're presenting today, on behalf of

          9  the Center for Court Innovation, as well as the

         10  hundreds of New York City youth and families served

         11  each year by our Youth Courts.

         12                 The Center for Court Innovation, just

         13  by way of background, is a non- profit, non-

         14  partisan think- tank dedicated to promoting criminal

         15  and juvenile justice reform, and thanks to many of

         16  you in this room, the City Council's critical

         17  support of the Center over the last several years

         18  has enabled us to create community courts in

         19  Midtown, Harlem and Red Hook, as well as drug

         20  courts, mental health courts, and domestic violence

         21  courts, models which have been replicated across the

         22  state, the nation and the world.

         23                 But we're here really to talk about

         24  one of our interventions which we've created,

         25  developed, to tackle youth crime and truancy, the
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          2  Youth Court, how is works.

          3                 The Center for Court Innovation

          4  currently operates Youth Courts in Red Hook, in

          5  Harlem and Crown Heights, and is opening a new one

          6  in Far Rockaway.

          7                 In a youth court, teenagers are

          8  trained to serve as judge, jury and advocates, and

          9  they're trained by judges, prosecutors, defense

         10  lawyers, police, and they hear real- life, low-

         11  level cases involving their peers.  A youth court

         12  uses positive peer pressure to ensure that teens who

         13  have committed minor offenses both pay back the

         14  community, and receive the help they need to get

         15  back on the right track.

         16                 Youth court cases are referred by the

         17  courts, by police, schools and families and serve as

         18  both a diversion from the juvenile justice system,

         19  and an alternative to school suspension.  Youth

         20  court members hear actual cases involving offenses

         21  such as truancy, school fighting, vandalism,

         22  marijuana possession and shoplifting.  Sanctions

         23  from the teen jurors typically include community

         24  service, such as cleaning up graffiti, painting over

         25  graffiti, cleaning up a park, or reading to younger
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          2  children at a local library, as well as letters of

          3  apology, essays and certainly counseling.

          4                 For many young people, and as we've

          5  been hearing today, minor involvement with the

          6  criminal justice or juvenile justice system can lead

          7  to more serious crime with life- long consequences.

          8  Youth courts aim to intervene during a young

          9  person's initial contact with the justice system to

         10  prevent further criminal behavior.  Youth court

         11  members articulate standards of appropriate behavior

         12  to their peers, and they use positive peer pressure

         13  to send the message that young people must take

         14  responsibility for their actions, while at the same

         15  time linking them to services that can help them

         16  avoid further trouble.

         17                 Youth courts have a strong track

         18  record.  Since the Center's Youth Court Programs

         19  began operations in Red Hook and in Harlem in 1998

         20  and 1999, they've heard well over 1,000 cases, and

         21  trained more than 550 young people to serve as

         22  judge, jurors and attorneys.  Red Hook alone

         23  currently hears around 150 cases each year, and 85

         24  percent of the respondents complete all sanctions

         25  imposed by the Center's youth courts, a figure much
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          2  higher than many traditional courts.

          3                 A 2002 study by the Urban Institute

          4  found that respondents who participated in youth

          5  courts were significantly less likely to re- offend

          6  than youth in comparison groups.  A study from the

          7  Washington State Institute for Public Policy

          8  released last month reports similar results, and

          9  estimated that a single youth court case saves

         10  victims and tax payers more than $9,000.

         11                 The Center's youth courts have also

         12  had a positive impact on the young people who serve

         13  as members.  In thinking about the future, there are

         14  several opportunities for collaboration between the

         15  City Council and Youth Court programming.

         16                 First, city council's in a number of

         17  states have secured the future of local youth courts

         18  through dedicated city funding.  For example, the

         19  San Diego Youth Court is primarily supported by the

         20  San Diego City Council.  Such funding could allow

         21  current youth courts to sustain and expand services

         22  as well as facilitating the development of new youth

         23  courts around the City.

         24                 Second, Chair Gonzalez has taken the

         25  active leadership and mentoring role with Red Hook's
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          2  Youth Court, in particular, speaking at numerous

          3  events and each year her office hosts a student

          4  intern from the youth court.  Similar support from

          5  individual members in other neighborhoods would

          6  greatly enhance our program strength and capacity.

          7                 Finally, your leadership is needed

          8  both in raising public awareness, and in bringing

          9  similar youth programs to other New York City

         10  communities.

         11                 The Center for Court Innovation has

         12  extensive experience piloting such programming, but

         13  we need your help to continue to spread the model,

         14  and to test new ideas.

         15                 The Center for Court Innovation looks

         16  forward to continued work with the New York City

         17  Council to reduce youth crime, improve school

         18  behavior and develop youth leaders.

         19                 Amy Roza and I are happy to take your

         20  questions now, and we'd like to thank you for you

         21  time and your attention and your support of our

         22  youth courts.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you

         24  Adam, and I just want to say that Judge Calabrese

         25  does an excellent job in my district, and I
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          2  certainly love what we do with the Youth Court. It's

          3  been a real deterrent in the community itself, and

          4  has assisted our youth, but I also want to kind of

          5  lobby my colleagues to do the same.

          6                 So, any questions?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Mr. Mansky,

          8  you're the Director of Operations for the Center for

          9  Court Intervention (sic) with all of the centers

         10  that have been established?

         11                 MR. MANSKY:  We are like the umbrella

         12  for the different justice centers, the youth core

         13  program, and the drug courts, and mental health

         14  courts that we've been involved with.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Now you said

         16  that the youth courts, as part of the Center for

         17  Court Intervention (sic), that thousands of youth

         18  have come in front of the Youth Court, where they

         19  were being judged by the peers who were trained as,

         20  I guess, mediators or judges, is that correct?

         21                 MS. MANSKY:  Well, I'm going to let

         22  Amy handle a little bit of it, but actually I just

         23  want to say that they're actually trained to serve

         24  as judge, as jury, as presentment or advocate,

         25  community advocate, or youth advocate.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  But with

          3  respect to that, you had said the system, or the

          4  City of New York saves approximately $9,000 for

          5  every individual that comes in front of the Youth

          6  Court?

          7                 MS. MANSKY:  That is based on a study

          8  in Washington State, that estimated that kind of

          9  savings for each single youth court case.  It hasn't

         10  been done for--

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So, it's

         12  probably more money in New York City then?

         13  Probably, if we're talking about Washington State?

         14                 You would agree with that, right?

         15                 MR. MANSKY:  I wouldn't want to

         16  speculate, but it sounds like that makes sense to

         17  me.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So Ms. Roza,

         19  did you have anything to say on that?

         20                 MS. ROZA:  The study based its $9,000

         21  on five different studies that looked at youth

         22  courts nationally, so just to support the

         23  information.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Now, what would

         25  happen if there was no youth courts in New York
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          2  City, and the youth that came in front of the Youth

          3  Court, where would they go in order to deal with

          4  whatever the situation or the violations or offenses

          5  that they have been alleged to have done, where

          6  would they go?

          7                 MS. ROZA:  We get our cases from a

          8  number of sources.  One of which is YD Cards, or

          9  juvenile reports from the precincts.

         10                 So, these young people who wouldn't

         11  necessarily go into family court, so it would just

         12  be on record.  We also get them as referrals from

         13  schools, as an alternative to suspension. So what

         14  would likely happen if the youth courts didn't exist

         15  is young people would go back to the community, they

         16  would go back and if they committed another offense,

         17  they would be into the formal court system, so no

         18  intervention would have taken place before that

         19  happens and for the young people in school, they

         20  would be suspended.  So, they might be out of school

         21  for a couple of days, or in an in- school suspension

         22  center, and then they would again  --  the actual

         23  offense that brought them there, whatever caused the

         24  issue that caused them to be truant or caused them

         25  to bring a boxcutter to school would go unaddressed,
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          2  and they would return to the school community.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So you are also

          4  getting youth, some youth, that may  --  I'm talking

          5  about, are you also a stop- gap before some youth

          6  are referred to the criminal justice system?

          7                 So in essence, there was testimony

          8  earlier that it cost to incarcerate a youth,

          9  approximately $170,000, depending on who you ask,

         10  but everyone knows it's over $120,000 per youth to

         11  incarcerate for a year, and so in essence, the

         12  savings by someone, for example, that may have to go

         13  to the Family Court and be in front of a judge,

         14  and/or the possibility of being incarcerated during,

         15  I guess, a period of time of a trial, your saving

         16  the  --  everyone, the taxpayers money and also

         17  saving the youth from, I guess, being incarcerated

         18  and loosing time out in school, and a lot of

         19  positive things come out of this Youth Court, is

         20  that safe to say?

         21                 MR. MANSKY:  Yes, that is correct,

         22  and what we're saying is, let's start as an

         23  intervention at the earliest stage when the young

         24  person is starting to show signs of difficulty,

         25  acting out, and may have some kind of stop by the
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          2  police or some kind of misbehavior in school,

          3  instead of waiting until they've been tripped up,

          4  when they still are going to listen to authority,

          5  when there still are opportunities to intervene

          6  meaningfully with these young people, and engage

          7  them in, whether it's the Youth Court itself, or the

          8  range of services that we will connect them to as

          9  part of it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You had

         11  indicated that 85 percent of the youth that come in

         12  front of the court are given, I guess, obligations,

         13  I don't want to say a sentence, but given

         14  obligations that they have to fulfill, whether it's

         15  community service or other things like that.  You

         16  indicated about 85 of them fulfill their

         17  obligations.

         18                 MR. MANSKY:  Correct, we have an 85

         19  percent compliance of the young people that are

         20  sentenced to  --  given some kind of  --  we call it

         21  a disposition, right?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You call it

         23  what?

         24                 MS. ROZA:  Eighty- five percent

         25  complete all the sanctions that they're given.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Sanctions,

          3  okay, you call them sanctions.  I was saying

          4  obligations, but same difference?

          5                 MS. ROZA:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Now, what

          7  happens to the 15 percent that do not fulfill their

          8  sanctions or obligations?

          9                 MS. ROZA:  Great, so it depends on

         10  the source that they were referred to.  Some of our

         11  cases are actually low- level cases coming out of

         12  courts or from probation before it's sent to Family

         13  Court, and so, those would get returned to the  --

         14  the first thing I should say is, with all cases, our

         15  staff would do extensive follow up to try and get

         16  that young person connected to services, identify

         17  whatever the issue is.  If it's something as simple

         18  as they don't have the money to transport them to

         19  the counseling services, we're going to address that

         20  to make sure they get that connection, and then when

         21  that fails, if we're not able to do that, in some

         22  cases they will be returned to Family Court or

         23  returned to probation.

         24                 In other cases we would connect the

         25  parents, with other service providers to try and
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          2  again, work with that family on a voluntary basis

          3  and get them to either complete sanctions, or engage

          4  in other services that may help them.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Going back to

          6  the focus of this hearing, and I'm looking for it,

          7  it says the role of education officials and staff in

          8  identifying early indicators of juvenile

          9  delinquency, and in diverting juveniles from the

         10  juvenile justice system.  Evaluate the system, and

         11  identifying early indicators and diverting juveniles

         12  from the juvenile justice system, do you give the

         13  system a passing grade, or a failing grade?  And be

         14  realistic, don't hem and haw and ride the fence.

         15                 I want to know from you, from your

         16  perspective, is the system doing a good job or not

         17  doing a good job, or need improvements.

         18                 MR. MANSKY:  I mean, I don't have  --

         19    what I can say is that we work generally with

         20  referrals from community, from police, from  --  as

         21  a diversion from court, and we do get some referrals

         22  from the school system as an alternative to

         23  suspension, and we think that that is an effective

         24  time to intervene because the young person hasn't

         25  been suspended yet.
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          2                 We would love to figure out ways to

          3  develop that more, and we think that that would be a

          4  very productive avenue down the road to pursue.

          5                 MS. ROZA:  I think, in thinking about

          6  the youth that we work with and also the schools

          7  that we work with, I think there  --  and someone

          8  mentioned this question earlier about what are the

          9  programs necessary for delinquency prevention?  I

         10  think there are three components and this I think

         11  really reflects what the two attorneys who came

         12  before us were saying.

         13                 We need excellent universal early

         14  childhood education.  We're seeing kids who are

         15  coming for Youth Court, and certainly in our other

         16  courts, who lack the skills to be successful in

         17  school, and then that turns into behavioral issues.There

         18  is research that supports that if by the third

         19  grade, so when you're eight- years- old, if you're a

         20  grade level behind, you're much more likely not to

         21  graduate from high school.  We need excellent

         22  engaging academic instruction at every level in

         23  school, so that teachers are using, to differentiate

         24  instruction, to reach all of the students, but

         25  they're also using a variety of assessment tools to

                                                            113

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND EDUCATION

          2  make sure that students are caught immediately

          3  before they slip too far behind, and then the last

          4  component, and this is what Adam was speaking about,

          5  which is what the Center for Court Innovation can

          6  provide and works with schools to do, is early

          7  appropriate restorative intervention for delinquent

          8  behavior.  So as soon as a youth is truant from

          9  school, as soon as they are getting into fights in

         10  the cafeteria, there's something that's appropriate

         11  that helps them and their family to address whatever

         12  is the root cause.

         13                 So, that might be  --  that will

         14  include engaging the youth in addressing whatever

         15  harm's been done, and thinking about the

         16  consequences of their actions.  It will include

         17  connecting youth to needed services, like

         18  counseling, like anger management, like drug

         19  treatment, and it would include developing the

         20  youth's leadership and academic skills, as we do

         21  with the Youth Court and the reading and the writing

         22  that they youth do who serve on the court.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         24                 Council Member Darlene Mealy of

         25  Brooklyn.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Good

          3  afternoon.

          4                 I would just like to know, the re-

          5  offenders, what do you do to them if they did the

          6  crime, and were supposed to go through your program,

          7  then they do another crime.

          8                 How do you handle them?

          9                 MS. ROZA:  We don't see a huge number

         10  of youth  -- we get all the YD cards, or we get all

         11  of the referrals from certain precincts and schools.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Yes.

         13                 MS. ROZA:  We're happy to say that we

         14  don't see a ton of youth who come back to us for the

         15  same offense.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  What

         17  percentage?

         18                 MR. MANSKY:  We don't have a

         19  percentage on that.           It's a very difficult

         20   --  because it's not a documented offense or

         21  obviously with juvenile justice with  -- it's not a

         22  finger- printable offense, and frankly, these are

         23  mostly YD cards, it's pretty hard to keep that

         24  accurate.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Excuse me,
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          2  Adam.  What about a success rate?  Is there

          3  something like that in measuring.            I mean,

          4  you have let's say 200 cards are brought in, and

          5  they're referred to you, how many do not ever

          6  return, or do you do any follow up?

          7                 MS. ROZA:  There's a national study

          8  that was done by the Urban Institute, the author is

          9  Jeffrey Butts (phonetic), and he looked at three  --

         10    several youth courts and compared the youth who

         11  were coming through the youth court to a similar

         12  control population in probation and Family Court,

         13  similar demographic backgrounds, similar offenses,

         14  the recidivism rate for the Youth Courts was

         15  approximately six percent, and the recidivism rate

         16  for Family Court was something like 18 to 20

         17  percent.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  So you don't

         19  have any way to track these individuals, or how good

         20  your program is running?

         21                 MS. ROZA:  We can look at the

         22  referrals that we get within our precincts.

         23                 The thing that's more difficult, and

         24  again, this would speak to more funding for study,

         25  is to look at those youth in the criminal justice
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          2  system in a much longer term and larger way.  We

          3  believe from what we can see with our precincts and

          4  with our schools, that the results are very, very

          5  good.  It's difficult for us to look at that without

          6  further research

          7  across  --  in a much larger scope.  So, we're

          8  reluctant to give a specific answer for that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Okay, in your

         10  testimony you said more members need to get

         11  involved.

         12                 How can you bring  --  do you have a

         13  price range, or what would you need in order to

         14  start it  --  another program in another district?

         15                 My district is, we have a Federal

         16  prison and a youth detention center, and I thought

         17  maybe that program should have started in Bedford-

         18  Stuyvesant or Brownsville first, before it went all

         19  the way to Red Hook, sorry about that.  But how can

         20  one come  --  we can work towards getting one in our

         21  district? Before the youth going to the juvenile

         22  center, we need an intervention, and I believe your

         23  program would be a help to our district.

         24                 So, I would love to see how we can

         25  work
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          2  something  --  if it's space you would need first,

          3  or?

          4                 MR. MANSKY:  Well, it's a good,

          5  timely question now.  We're in the process, and

          6  Amy's in the process of working to get one up and

          7  running in Far Rockaway, and I think the real things

          8  that we need to start off, obviously, in addition to

          9  community support, and so forth, is the staffing.  I

         10  think we feel we need one and a half people to both

         11  train the kids to help manage the families when they

         12  come in for the hearings, and to support the kids as

         13  they're having their hearings, and then space as

         14  well, obviously, for hearings and administrative

         15  staff.

         16                 But I was also going to say that

         17  there are different was to cut it, you could see it

         18  serving a network of schools, you could see it

         19  serving just a community directly, as I think we're

         20  doing in Far Rockaway, and there are different ways

         21  to test out the idea, and to make it effective.

         22                 MS. ROZA:  So it would be in the

         23  budget to support one- and- a- half staff, and then

         24  a space to hold the hearings, which often is in-

         25  kind because we work with schools or community
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          2  centers to do so.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I would maybe

          4  suggest that you guys meet and we can talk about the

          5  logistics of this.  I think that's great.

          6                 MR. MANSKY:  Sure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I think that's

          8  great.

          9                 I just have another question.

         10  Categories of offenses, let's say from a young

         11  person.  What would it be? Could you give me an idea

         12  of why someone would be brought it?

         13                 MR. MANSKY:  It could be the whole,

         14  actually, why don't you speak to the range of--

         15                 MS. ROZA:  So, this is a range of

         16  offenses that is typically within police discretion

         17  could  --  you could be stopped for and never to

         18  Family Court.

         19                 So this is something that you could

         20  be demonstrating delinquent behavior, but not have

         21  any kind of intervention from it in New York City.

         22  So, we hear cases that are  --  and that's like,

         23  that's where our pool of offenses are based on, so

         24  it includes things like  --  as serious as assault,

         25  possession of a knife or a boxcutter, that can
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          2  include bringing that onto school grounds,

          3  possession of marijuana, it can go all the way to

          4  the other end of the range in terms of fare evasion,

          5  jumping the turnstiles, graffiti, which could be

          6  spraying on a whole wall or just magic markering on

          7  someone's door.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  So I would

          9  think that in an another time when this did not

         10  exist, these young people would go through the

         11  system.

         12                 MS. ROZA:  Right, in parts of New

         13  York City where youth courts don't exist, some of

         14  these youth will be stopped by the police, will have

         15  a YD card or juvenile report to precinct, but will

         16  not at that time be forwarded to Family Court.  Some

         17  of these youth will be entered into Family Court,

         18  and will begin the system that way.

         19                 MR. MANSKY:  We also use it as a

         20  diversion, an adjustment, from Family Court, which

         21  presents a whole new range of options for a Family

         22  Court judge, and that is in lieu of  -- or as an

         23  adjustment for probation, which is an alternative to

         24  going into Family Court, and once in Family Court,

         25  as one of the sentencing options that Judge
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          2  Calabrese will use.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Right, and as

          4  far as education, when you're seeing these young

          5  people, do you feel that they're in where they

          6  should be in respect to education, when you do the

          7  assessment, is there any connection with you and

          8  your program and the school to, sort of, get them

          9  back on line, whether they've been suspended maybe,

         10  or, is that something that you do?

         11                 MS. ROZA:  We see a really wide range

         12  of students, so that should be said first.

         13                 We certainly see students who are

         14  engaged in school, and are succeeding in school.  We

         15  also definitely see students who have been out of

         16  school for a long time, who come to us because

         17  they've been picked up for truancy, but it turns out

         18  they are three grade levels behind, and they haven't

         19  been to school in months.

         20                 With those students we would, in

         21  addition to whatever sanctions they receive from the

         22  Youth Court, we would work with them depending on

         23  where they were referred to, usually on a voluntary

         24  basis, to connect them with the correct resources

         25  with the DOE or other CBO's to make sure that they
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          2  were getting evaluated so that they got appropriate

          3  placement because, of course, there's no sense in

          4  sending them back into an environment where the

          5  underlying issue of why they acted out to start with

          6  wasn't addressed, and then they returned to that

          7  environment. So, we would ensure that they were

          8  connected with those voluntary services.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I think

         10  Darlene Mealy has another question.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  I was just

         12  wondering, do the police have any power before they

         13  arrest someone to give them a recommendation to go

         14  to this program before?

         15                 MS. ROZA:  With the precincts that we

         16  work with, in all the precincts across New York

         17  City, police have a certain amount of discretion.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Is it the

         19  community affairs, or the officer themselves, the

         20  arresting officer?

         21                 MS. ROZA:  Well, any officer in New

         22  York City can -- had the discretion to send  --  to

         23  give youth a YD card, which is like a formalized

         24  warning, or they could arrest the young person, and

         25  forward them into Family Court.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  How often do

          3  they use those cards?

          4                 MR. MANSKY:  There are 70,000 a year,

          5  I think issued.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  My, my, I

          7  never heard my precinct mention something like that

          8  at all.

          9                 MS. ROZA:  They would probably call

         10  it, either they would call it a YD card, or a

         11  juvenile report.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  YD cards?

         13                 MR. MANSKY:  YD card or juvenile

         14  report.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Excuse me?

         16                 MS. ROZA:  Or a juvenile report, and

         17  so for young people in most areas of New York City,

         18  for all areas of New York City, those are the two

         19  options.  For the precincts that we work directly

         20  with, anyone who's given that formalized warning,

         21  the YD card or the juvenile report, that referral is

         22  forwarded to the Youth Court.

         23                 So the way that the officer would

         24  have the choice is, they can say, "I know something

         25  is going to happen with this case."  Whereas, in
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          2  other precincts, the only way they know something is

          3  going to happen with the case, is for it to be

          4  forwarded to probation or Family Court.

          5                 Whereas, in our precincts they can

          6  say, "I know something is going to happen with this

          7  case.  It's going to go to this community program or

          8  there's going to be an early intervention," and all

          9  of those YD cards come to the Youth Courts in Harlem

         10  or Red Hook, and we would follow up, and they would

         11  become Youth Court cases.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  And the youth

         13  officer in the precincts would be a good connection,

         14  your youth officer in your precincts.

         15                 Helen, Councilwoman.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you.

         17                 Good to see you again.  A couple of

         18  very quick questions.

         19                 What is the age range that come

         20  before you?  From what to what?

         21                 MS. ROZA:  So, in front of the court,

         22  is from ten years- old to 18- years- old.  We want

         23  you to be able to think about their offenses,

         24  process the proceedings that are happening and

         25  understand the consequences of what they've done,
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          2  and also be able to build the skills on their own.

          3                 On the court, are the same youth who

          4  are coming before the court, are kids who have been

          5  through the court, and then choose to serve on the

          6  court, and that age range is 14 to 18.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Do you, and I

          8  know because your work in undocumented, so it's  --

          9  but in your observations there, do you keep anything

         10  in terms of gender?

         11                 Do you see a decrease in the males,

         12  and an increase in females?  Because it's rather

         13  significant.

         14                 MS. ROZA:  In terms of youth coming

         15  before the court?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Yes.

         17                 MS. ROZA:  I mean, I think this

         18  reflects the community, the criminal justice as a

         19  whole.  We see overall, many more young men coming

         20  before us, but we certainly see a significant

         21  population of young women as well.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  You wouldn't

         23   --  I would think the way you operate in

         24  recidivism, is not something that you get involved

         25  with because if there were any, they would be
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          2  handled in a very different way, and not necessarily

          3  coming back to you?  Am I correct in that?

          4                 MR. MANSKY:  That's basically right.

          5  I mean, some of them could be aging out into the

          6  criminal court system, some of them could end up in

          7  the Family Court, maybe not even the Justice

          8  Center's Family Court.

          9                 We're actually taking a look at how

         10  we can document some information or what we can

         11  glean from some of that, but it's kind of at the

         12  preliminary stage.

         13                 MS. ROZA:  The easiest thing for us

         14  to see is if they come back to  --  if they get

         15  another YD card, which for kids who don't come to

         16  Youth Court, it's not uncommon to get more than one

         17  YD card and not have been forwarded to court, or if

         18  they come to the Family Court that's connected with

         19  the Youth Court, we might know about it that way.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Do most of

         21  them have families?  I mean they come before your

         22  court.

         23                 MS. ROZA:  All of the young people

         24  who come before us have families.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Is there any
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          2  connection between what you're doing with the

          3  children, and what is connected to the parents?

          4                 Do you have a link to counseling for

          5  the parents, or you're concentrating on the kids

          6  only?

          7                 MS. ROZA:  Absolutely.  So, for all

          8  of our Youth Courts we work very, very hard to have

          9  a parent of guardian, if not, all parents and

         10  guardians present during the hearing, so that they

         11  are there for the interview with staff or a social

         12  worker that happens before the hearing.  They are

         13  there present during the hearing, as a support to

         14  their child, and also so that they're aware of what

         15  happened.  And they're there during the sanctions so

         16  they know what the youth's follow up is, and in

         17  doing so they are also eligible for any services we

         18  can offer through the Youth Court.

         19                 So sometimes someone comes to us for

         20  a truancy case, but the guardian will acknowledge

         21  that there's actually a domestic violence situation

         22  at home, that's the root cause of this truancy

         23  problem--

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  What happens

         25  in a situation like that?  What do you do?
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          2                 MS. ROZA:  So we would then refer

          3  them to the local services.  So for all of our Youth

          4  Courts, those partnerships are already established

          5  with other organizations. So for example in Red

          6  Hook, that parent would immediately be brought to

          7  Safe Horizon, and be connected with a staff member

          8  there.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay, all

         10  right, thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  My last

         12  question is this. With respects to the Youth Courts,

         13  how long have they been in existence, and whether or

         14  not the amount of youth has  --  coming into the

         15  Youth Court system, have they increased, and to what

         16  percentage of increase if you have any knowledge of

         17  that?

         18                 MS. MANSKY:  In New York City, we

         19  began our first Youth Court in Red Hook in 1998, and

         20  opened a second one in Harlem in 1999.

         21                 Right now Red Hook itself, as I

         22  mentioned, the Red Hook Youth Court hears about 150

         23  cases a year, but I don't know that that reflects

         24  changes in volume as much in changes in how we

         25  operate them.
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          2                 Nationally, there are over 1,000

          3  Youth Courts I think.  There are about 100 in New

          4  York State, and so proportionately, it's actually a

          5  fairly small number here in New York.  I think

          6  there's five or six in operation in New York, and we

          7  are responsible for four of them.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  But what you're

          9  seeing is that from, I guess, from ten years ago to

         10  now, the more Youth Courts around the country which

         11  indicates that the demand, I guess appropriate

         12  placement and demand is in need to have more.      Is

         13  that correct?

         14                 MR. MANSKY:  It certainly seems like

         15  there's more acceptance of the concept, interest and

         16  testing it out, and using it as an alternative.

         17                 So, that's certainly happened over

         18  the last--

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So you said

         20  that you're handling about 150 a year in Red Hook?

         21                 So if for example, could your court

         22  handle 500 per year in Red Hook, or you don't have

         23  the staff to do that?

         24                 MS. ROZA:  One hundred and fifty is

         25  probably the capacity of our court at its current
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          2  size, so again, I think that there's certainly more

          3  cases than that in South Brooklyn.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, very

          5  good.

          6                 MR. MANSKY:  And there may be ways to

          7    --  I mean, they're also ways to increase capacity

          8  effectively if needed.

          9                 MS. ROZA:  Like for example with

         10  funding there could be a second parallel youth court

         11  serving the same population.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Councilwoman

         13  Sears.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Just one last

         15  thought.

         16                 Where do the District Attorneys fit

         17  into your scheme of being someplace in an area,

         18  working with them or not working with them, because

         19  the District Attorney's offices have some of that,

         20  some of the things that you are doing.

         21                 So, do you work in conjunction with

         22  them?

         23                 MR. MANSKY:  In Queens we are working

         24  closely with the District Attorney's office, as well

         25  as the Eastern District of the U. S. Attorney's
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          2  Office to plan this new Youth Court in Red Hook.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  It's been a

          4  while since Queens  --  it's taken a while, hasn't

          5  it?

          6                 How long have you--

          7                 MR. MANSKY:  The Youth Court that

          8  we're involved in planning, has only been for two or

          9  three month, I think.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Queens did not

         11  have this before.

         12                 MR. MANSKY:  I believe there may be a

         13  Youth Court in Queens.

         14                 MS. ROZA:  There is one existing

         15  Youth Court in Queens, run by a volunteer named Ruth

         16  Maxwell, but this is our first venture in Queens.

         17  And as well, the District Attorney's are involved

         18  with us in our training of Youth Court members, as

         19  well.

         20                 So in Red Hook, three of the sessions

         21  are actually co- facilitated by a Youth Court staff

         22  member, and an ADA who will work with the youth on

         23  understanding consequences to low- level crimes or

         24  performing the role of a community advocate, which

         25  is the parallel role to the prosecuting attorney.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay, so you

          3  do have that link with the District Attorney's

          4  office.

          5                 Okay, thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Well, thank

          7  you so much, and I just want to say I am very proud

          8  of the work the Youth Court does.

          9                 Give Judge Calabrese our regards, and

         10  I hope that my colleagues will also continue to look

         11  into it.  It's an excellent project.  I mean, we

         12  used to call them alternatives to incarceration, but

         13  I mean, not even being detained but given the

         14  opportunity to make a change is important.

         15                 So, thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I agree, and I

         17  have to say that, and I think that for Councilwoman

         18  Mealy, we really at budget time, should look at what

         19  can be done of having these services in your area

         20  because they are proving most effective, and when we

         21  have the hearings, and we look at the numbers

         22  because in the end, the numbers are the ones that

         23  produce the dollars. They're astounding, they are

         24  really astounding, so we need at budget time to look

         25  at that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I would even

          3  like to suggest that, or recommend that you start

          4  looking at methods of measuring and even follow up,

          5  because that's very important.

          6                 If we are going to do anything here

          7  in the Council, we need to know there's a need.

          8                 So, the way you get the need is to

          9  understanding numbers and measuring.  So, if you had

         10  a thousand people come through, how many never

         11  returned, or did they end up in another part of the

         12  system somewhere?

         13                 That's important to us, okay?

         14                 MR. MANSKY:  Thank you so much for

         15  the opportunity to speak with you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Thank you,

         17  thank you so much.

         18                 Okay, please step forward, it's Ms.

         19  Lillian Rivera from My Community Activist, Omowale

         20  Adewale, Grassroots Activist (sic) Movement, and

         21  Ronald Smith, P.162M.

         22                 Thank you, please step forward and

         23  state your name for the record.

         24                 MR. ADEWALE:  Good afternoon, Omowale

         25  Adewale.
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          2                 Good morning Chairpersons, and

          3  members of City Council.

          4                 I am Omowale Adewale, the Executive

          5  Director of Grassroots Artists MovEment (G.A.M.E.).

          6  We focus on artists' rights and providing healthcare

          7  to those in need.

          8                 In addition to these components, we

          9  have a youth leadership and youth incarceration

         10  prevention program, which functions at Urban

         11  Assembly Academy for History and Citizenship for

         12  Young Men located in the Bronx.  It is called the

         13  R.E.B.E.L. Program, which stands for Rallying,

         14  Educating, and Building Effective Leadership.  A

         15  part of our program, which began earlier this year,

         16  provided the community with an Alternative to

         17  Incarceration (ATI) for young people 16 and under.

         18                 Youth arrested and set to Family

         19  Court or Criminal Court under the age of 17 are able

         20  to utilize our ATI part by having the ATI as an

         21  option for the judge to use who presides over their

         22  case.  Instead of the judge hearing only the

         23  prosecutor argue for the youth to be remanded or

         24  sent to a secure detention center, we use our ATI

         25  like a wildcard.  The program is a less expensive
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          2  and more community-friendly option for the judge.

          3                 Last year, according to the Legal Aid

          4  Services of NY in the Bronx, the Bronx took in a

          5  third all the youth adjudicated in New York City.

          6  According to Correctional Association of NY, in 2002

          7  the Bronx was home to six of the 15 poorest

          8  neighborhoods in NYC.  There is no coincidence that

          9  that is the same ratio for neighborhoods with the

         10  highest level of incarcerated youth in New York

         11  City.  This is not just a Bronx borough problem.

         12  This is an epidemic throughout the City, the State

         13  and the entire nation.  Where there is poverty,

         14  there is a strong police presence.

         15                 The same place where young 23- year-

         16  old Sean Bell was slain by the NYPD in Jamaica,

         17  Queens, the Correctional Association of NY reported

         18  in their 2002 report that Jamaica, Queens was number

         19  one in terms of youth being sent to secure

         20  detention, or outright jail.  There are no

         21  coincidences when it comes to the police patrolling

         22  our communities as if it were enemy territory.

         23                 Instead of NYC finding ways of

         24  correcting the situation for our beloved future,

         25  which is our youth, they man the educational
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          2  facilities with police and install metal detectors.

          3  Instead of recognizing youth will be running the

          4  city in the future.  Mayor Bloomberg throws the

          5  City's youth Alternative to Detention program down

          6  the drain.  Although, it was only $2 million to run

          7  versus the City spending over $150,000 per youth,

          8  with hundreds filling the City's secure detention

          9  centers, which is another name for our youth jails.

         10                 Studies show that the ATD reduced

         11  recidivism tremendously with this inexpensive

         12  program.  But I think many advocates get the

         13  picture.  Through the terms`Quality of Life'

         14  and`Zero Tolerance,' many understand this

         15  administration and its predecessors' goal.  Our

         16  youth, the youth that are 95 percent incarcerated,

         17  those Black and Latino are seemed expendable.  They

         18  are actually seen as the gatekeepers of quality of

         19  life.  This is based on the City's numbers.  The

         20  youth today is treated like a virus.  In your body

         21  the white blood cells or T- cells find assumed

         22  dangers in the body and seize them, preventing them

         23  from moving about the body, almost like a prison.

         24  Unfortunately, that is also how many miscarriages in

         25  the U.S. Occur.  You see the white blood cells do
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          2  not always accurately identify strangers, so it

          3  sometimes restricts the movement of the embryo

          4  inside the developing womb.  This happens when the

          5  T-cells or white blood cells falsely label the

          6  embryo as harmful.  It surrounds the embryo,

          7  restricting it growth, causing it to die in its

          8  beginning life stages.

          9                 Ironically, AIDS in the same place of

         10  the embryo uses the prison- like tactic of the T-

         11  cells to infect the white blood cells causing them

         12  to die.  Later revisit this, and understand why we

         13  labeled our youth program R.E.B.E.L.

         14                 However, our youth are unlike

         15  embryos, we can protect them out here, because of

         16  our greater understanding or obtainable knowledge,

         17  which outweighs what we know about the body.

         18                 If you are to divert youth from the

         19  juvenile justice system, give them justice.

         20  Fifteen-year-old children are arrested for going

         21  into New York City Housing Authority buildings to

         22  see their friends at anytime during the day.  I

         23  responded to three cases like this.  In one case,

         24  the child received 18 months for what the police

         25  deemed as trespassing because he responded "No" to
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          2  an officer after the officer asked if he lived in

          3  the building, but was ignored when he explained that

          4  he was permitted to be there because he was there to

          5  visit a friend.  He was their guest.

          6                 The criminalization of youth is even

          7  in their school.  I once left a school because they

          8  attempted to force me to remove my shoes and my belt

          9  even after the co-founder/program director for the

         10  school said he would escort me to the class where I

         11  was teaching afterschool.  I imagined what the youth

         12  must go through on a daily basis in the various

         13  schools around the City.  For years the high schools

         14  would ask students who arrived late to campus to go

         15  home.  Students would then be in the back of a

         16  police patty- wagon on their way from school.

         17                 The role of Department of Education,

         18  if they are to legally hold our children for eight

         19  hours a day should be to keep them out of harms way,

         20  yet the police seems like a threat to them in these

         21  days couple with terrible policies.

         22                 There needs to be community

         23  organizations on each campus to ensure that our kids

         24  are treated with dignity and respect.  The objective

         25  of the community organizations would be to run
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          2  programs that focus on reducing youth incarceration

          3  and performing ATI's.

          4                 I learned that many times youth are

          5  unjustly arrested because they are dealing with a

          6  shrewd police officer with an incentive to rake in

          7  arrests.  There is actually a police quote, I

          8  actually spoke to a detective at a forum which I

          9  regularly attend, and asked him if that was actually

         10  the case. And he actually said, "Yes."  Not saying

         11  yes, but basically what everybody took in who was in

         12    --  or attended a forum, understood him to be

         13  saying, "that yes, there is actually a quota."   So,

         14  that's why I'm saying that.

         15                 The community's youth advocates

         16  should be the arbitrators and the mediators on

         17  junior high school and high school campuses.  I am

         18  aware that this exists in some schools. Not only

         19  should they be permanent in every junior high and

         20  high school, but also, each neighborhood

         21  organization should cater to its own young people.

         22                 Criminalizing youth is not going to

         23  work.  Giving negative or beneficial incentives to

         24  police officers to arrest children is just malicious

         25  and unfair.
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          2                 Today's SAT's and tests in general

          3  are tougher, metal detectors exist where they never

          4  did, the police now officially patrol inside and out

          5  the schools, and there exists no civics classes

          6  outside of maybe a handful of schools that focus on

          7  political, legal or community aspects of life.

          8                 Youth need to have the tools.  Police

          9  and more police is not the answer, it is in the end

         10  the destruction, and the entire City is dealing with

         11  that terrible judgement at this very juncture.

         12                 I hope that the action that prevails

         13  incorporates community control and respect and

         14  dignity for our young people.

         15                 I thank you very much for allowing me

         16  to present my testimony for your consideration.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  State your

         18  name for the record, please.

         19                 MR. SMITH:  My name is Ronald Smith.

         20                 Good afternoon Honorable New York

         21  City Council Education Committee Chair, Mr. Robert

         22  Jackson, Juvenile Justice Committee Chair, Ms. Sara

         23  Gonzalez, and respective council members.

         24                 Again, my name is Ronald Smith from

         25  P.162, in district 75.
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          2                 It is ironic that we have this

          3  hearing here today. I am here as a special education

          4  teacher hoping to shed some insight as to how

          5  juveniles are affected by the negative activities

          6  surrounding them in the New York City public school

          7  system.

          8                 When I complete my testimony you will

          9  understand that here before you was a teacher

         10  who`was' able to assist Special Education`behavior'

         11  students into becoming mainstream, not only in

         12  class, but in society as well.

         13                 There are no bad students, only bad

         14  environments.

         15                 If the school and the Administration

         16  of the school are negative, then the students will

         17  be negative, if the school is nurturing, as was

         18  P.162M initially, then the students will act

         19  accordingly.

         20                 Eighteen years ago I received awards

         21  from the former Mayor and Manhattan Borough

         22  President, the Honorable Edward I. Koch, and David

         23  N. Dinkins, respectfully, for assisting youths who

         24  were involved in the 1988 `wilding/wolfpack'

         25  incident.
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          2                 You will hear in my testimony that

          3  the school Administration and the Department of

          4  Education systematically attacks teachers who go the

          5  extra mile to help`juvenile delinquent' students

          6  become mainstream and viable.

          7                 I was the assembly coordinator at

          8  P.162M from 1999 to 2001.  The purpose of these

          9  assemblies was to encourage our students to engage

         10  in positive activities so that they could build- up

         11  their self- esteem and want to learn how to read.  I

         12  told my students, "If you want to be a part of

         13  the`Who Wants to be a Millionaire' black history

         14  month assembly, you have to be able to read the cue

         15  cards."  It worked.

         16                 Teachers who successfully help our

         17  troubled youth can no longer be subjected to what

         18  you are about to hear.

         19                 I am the`one' teacher in`all' of the

         20  City of New York who has become the epitome of how

         21  far the Department of Education will go to cover-up

         22  corrupt activity by school administrators.

         23                 You may ask, what is the correlation

         24  between today's hearing and my circumstance?  Well,

         25  it is two fold.  The first is that I am a living
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          2  testimony for all of the 80,000 teachers in the City

          3  of New York that there is a system in place against

          4  each and everyone of us by the Department of

          5  Education. Just ask Ruth Wenig.

          6                 The second is that teachers are the

          7  ones who are in the trenches everyday to be the eyes

          8  and ears of what the Department of Education is

          9  doing.  Parents rely on that trust when it involves

         10  their children.

         11                 I've heard it said many times that

         12  the Department of Education has to answer to no one.

         13    Well, they do have to answer to the parents and

         14  teachers of the 1.1 million students in the largest

         15  school system in the country, and it's not in my

         16  notes but I want to add that they also have to

         17  answer to the City Council.

         18                 I would like to meet with city

         19  officials to address the two outstanding acts that

         20  have yet to be rectified, those two being the matter

         21  of my missing pertinent teacher personnel file

         22  documents, which includes my teachers license, and

         23  the fact that the Department of Education has me

         24  illegally documented as being under`Disability

         25  Retirement' for the past four years to justify in
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          2  their computer system how they have stopped paying

          3  my salary since 2002.

          4                 I would like to be the first to add

          5  that this is by no means a racial issue, although I

          6  appear before you as an African- American male

          7  against the Department of Education.

          8                 There are injustices against other

          9  teachers in New York City as well.

         10                 However, as an African- American, I

         11  would like to be the first, and more importantly,

         12  and I wish the DOE was here to hear this, so I would

         13  say, please adhere to this, I would like to be the

         14  last.

         15                 Thank you Mr. Chair, and Madam Sara

         16  Gonzalez for allowing me to testify before you at

         17  this hearing today.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Okay, thank

         19  you gentlemen for your testimony.

         20                 Are there any questions?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Mr. Adewale, I

         22  heard your testimony when I was standing over there

         23  trying to listen to my messages about  --  you

         24  talked about that the program that you were

         25  referring to  --  what was the cost of that per
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          2  year? You said about $200,000?

          3                 MR. ADEWALE:  Oh, the program, I mean

          4  in terms of how much OCFS, I was referring to is

          5  about $150,000 per capita. So, for each youth that

          6  is secure detention, that's how much they pay last

          7  year.  Previously, it was $130,000.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Right, but you

          9  indicated about the program that you were talking

         10  about and that, I think, you lost funding for, what

         11  program was that, sir?

         12                 MR. ADEWALE:  Not our program.  What

         13  I was saying was it was $2 million for the ATD,

         14  Alternative to Detention.

         15                 We have an ATI, I mean, the

         16  difference means Alternative to Secure Detention or

         17  ATI, in terms of any incarceration, whether it be in

         18  detention or in the prisons and jails.

         19                 Basically, our program is not like

         20  one of the larger programs.  We do a lot of art

         21  work, volunteer because we have to.  It's needed in

         22  our community, so we are basically hobbling along,

         23  and it's pretty much done under $25,000.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You program is

         25  located in the Bronx?
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          2                 MR. ADEWALE:  It's located in the

          3  Bronx.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  As far as the

          5  youth that, obviously, the purpose of this hearing

          6  is to try to prevent young people from getting

          7  involved in the juvenile justice system.

          8                 MR. ADEWALE:  Correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So, is your

         10  program dealing with youngsters in order to prevent

         11  them from becoming involved in the juvenile justice

         12  system?

         13                 MR. ADEWALE:  Correct, it prevents

         14  and also once they get into the system, it basically

         15  prevents recidivism.

         16                 So before they get into the program,

         17  what we do is, the R.E.B.E.L. Program, which stands

         18  for Rallying, Educating and Building Effective

         19  Leadership, we teach leadership skills. We teach

         20  what is not normally taught inside the schools,

         21  basically in voting.  A child is 15, he's going to

         22  be able to vote in three years.  We explain to him

         23  about the levels in civics within a community, we

         24  give him all that information that is not

         25  necessarily taught in schools.  We teach them about
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          2  other places, not just U.S. and everything, Europe.

          3  If they're Latino, talk about what's going on in

          4  Latin America.  Talk about what's going on in Africa

          5  if they are of African decent.

          6                 So, we talk about it globally,

          7  whether it be talking about Asia, or what's going on

          8  in current events.  So, that's done four to six  --

          9  the school that we're at, they make it viable for us

         10  to actually have our program, where it would not be

         11  able to exist in a lot of other schools, and just

         12  seeing that particular school, they've been able to

         13  stand out, Urban Assembly Academy, there's a lot of

         14  Urban Assembly Academy's, but this one really

         15  focuses on history and citizenship.

         16                 So, we do prevent and we also we do

         17  have a market, it's called Game South Bronx Green

         18  Market.  There's one that started in Brooklyn.  The

         19  first one that was in the Bronx, we did it, and

         20  there's also one in Harlem that just started this

         21  year, and so basically, youth, they have an

         22  incentive, they make money, that particular day they

         23  sell fruits and vegetables, they educate the

         24  community on health issues.  Bronx, whether it be

         25  Harlem, high asthma, diabetes rates, so they address
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          2  that at the same time, and incentives to make money,

          3  and so that's how we really prevent that.  They have

          4  to come on Tuesday's to the program, which I have to

          5  go to after this hearing, and actually learn at the

          6  program on these different issues that I spoke of,

          7  and then on Saturday's they come in, and they

          8  benefit from those incentives.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So these are

         10  youth that are volunteering, they are not referred

         11  to your program by the system?

         12                 MR. ADEWALE:  We actually had people

         13  referred to our program from probation department in

         14  the Bronx before.

         15                 Once they had learned that we didn't

         16  have a mechanism in place that basically addressed

         17  those who were caught for marijuana or their urine

         18  came up dirty, then they took it, then we partnered

         19  with Phoenix House, and we basically went about it

         20  that way.

         21                 But we even sat down  --  we sat down

         22  with Legal Aid Services of NY, and we actually had a

         23  discussion with them, I believe it was earlier this

         24  year, actually last year, I'm sorry, sometime in

         25  October, gave all the information and told them, and

                                                            148

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND EDUCATION

          2  they agreed that the problem exists, we have no

          3  referrals from them, although there are a bunch of

          4  programs that do have ATD's and ATI's.

          5                 I don't believe it's utilized to the

          6  full potential, number one, and number two, the

          7  organization do not have the amount of funding

          8  that's necessary.  Community organizations, like

          9  ourselves, do not have the funding just citywide.

         10  They're there, they want to help but they've been

         11  doing volunteer for so long, and they don't even

         12  know how to actually get that type of funding, I

         13  would like to add that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, I think

         15  that clearly, if your program is helping even one

         16  youth to stay out of trouble, you're program is a

         17  successful program.

         18                 MR. ADEWALE:  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Because you've

         20  heard earlier in the testimony how much it costs to

         21  incarcerate just one youth.

         22                 MR. ADEWALE:  Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Anywhere from

         24  $150,000 to $170,000, so if your program is just

         25  helping one youth, in my opinion, it's a very
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          2  successful program.  If it's diverting youth from

          3  the juvenile justice system into being more aware

          4  and self-conscious about civics, about politics,

          5  about community service, about entrepreneurship,

          6  you're doing a great job.

          7                 MR. ADEWALE:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  What I'd like

          9  for you to do, is I have your e- mail address, and

         10  we can talk afterwards to talk about how you can, or

         11  your organization can attempt to access funding

         12  through the City Council in order for your program

         13  to try to receive some funding.

         14                 MR. ADEWALE:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay?

         16                 MR. ADEWALE:  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Well, I just

         20  want to say thank you gentlemen for your testimony,

         21  and I also want to say to you in respect to the

         22  analogy you used with the T- cells, that certainly

         23  the T- cells are the soldiers of our body, and they

         24  need to be really strong to protect us from

         25  diseases, and so, that was an excellent analogy.
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          2                 MR. ADEWALE:  Thank you, thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  I just also

          4  want you to know that our goal in this committee,

          5  and specifically today, is basically the role of

          6  education officials and staff in early

          7  identification of juvenile delinquency, and how

          8  we're going to keep them from the system.

          9                 So, this is the beginning but I

         10  certainly welcome your commitment and everything

         11  that you have shared with us.  We will keep it on

         12  the record, and understand that more than anything

         13  today, today this hearing and other hearings to

         14  come, what we want to understand is where there's a

         15  breakdown in the system.  What's happening to our

         16  children that they're not getting the education that

         17  is not consistent, and when they do get arrested,

         18  can they reconnect as soon as possible, so that

         19  their lives continue.

         20                 So, I want to say thank you to both

         21  of you for your presentations.

         22                 MR. ADEWALE:  Thank you.

         23                 MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam.

         24                 MR. SMITH:  I just want to add that

         25  there's going to be a hearing with Councilman
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          2  Gioia's committee soon, or later, for those who want

          3  added information on my particular situation.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  Okay, thank

          5  you, Sir.

          6                 MR. SMITH:  Okay, you're welcome

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GONZALEZ:  This ends our

          8  hearing for today on the role of education officials

          9  and staff in early identification of juvenile

         10  delinquency, and also diverting juveniles from the

         11  juvenile justice system.

         12                 I want to thank each and every person

         13  that attended today.  Thank you for your time

         14  specifically.

         15                 I would like to thank Liz Dubin, our

         16  attorney. Thank you so much also William Hongach who

         17  is part of our team, Enisha (phonetic) Williams.

         18  Thank you so much for the work you do, to my staff

         19  as well.

         20                 Thank you for your patience and

         21  tolerance.  Have a nice day, and meeting adjourned.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 4:00 p.m.)

         23

         24                 (The following written testimony was

         25  read into the record.)
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          2

          3

          4  Written Testimony Of:

          5  New York State Office of Children

          6  And Family Services.

          7

          8                 The New York State Office of Children

          9  and Family Services (OCFS) provides education

         10  programs for youth in residential care with a goal

         11  of preparing students for economic self-sufficiency

         12  and life as contributing family and community

         13  members.

         14                 OCFS's education programs are

         15  provided in accordance with Part 100 and Part 116 of

         16  the New York State Education Department (SED)

         17  Commissioner's Regulations.  Special education

         18  services are provided in accordance with Part 200

         19  and Part 201 of SED Commissioner's Relations.  SED

         20  conducts reviews of regional associates oversee

         21  compliance of curricula and methodology of

         22  instruction provided to youth in OCFS programs in

         23  grades seven through 12.  Teachers' certification

         24  requirements are monitored through these reviews.

         25                 To comply with SED regulations, OCFS
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          2  school programs provide to all facility youth a five

          3  and one- half hour school day, 180 days a year.  A

          4  six- seven week summer program is also provided.

          5                 Most youth admitted to OCFS

          6  residential facilities are significantly behind

          7  their peers in public schools.  Our youth range from

          8  several years behind in reading and math to being

          9  non- readers.  These children have generally been

         10  out of school for extended periods of time.  During

         11  their placement with OCFS, vast improvements are

         12  seen in reading and math skills. While in placement

         13  with OCFS, youth generally improve at least two

         14  grade levels, as measured by the Woodcock Johnson

         15  testing instrument.

         16                 Currently, 50 percent of youth in

         17  OCFS facilities have been identified as needing

         18  special education services.

         19                 Students receive a minimum of 1,280

         20  minutes of instruction per week in English Language

         21  Arts, Math, Social Studies, and Science.  Science

         22  lab coursework of 1,200 minutes is also provided as

         23  required.  Ninety minutes of vocational programming

         24  is mandated.  Students also receive instruction in

         25  physical education.  All students are exposed to
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          2  state- of- the- art technology in the classroom.

          3                 Most students are enrolled in an

          4  academic sequence leading to a Regents diploma upon

          5  return to a community public school.  Grades five

          6  through eight New York State Assessments, Regents

          7  Competency Tests and Regents Examinations are

          8  administered in all education programs.  Eighty

          9  percent of the population enrolled in OCFS

         10  residential facilities education programs fall into

         11  this category.  The remaining 20 percent are

         12  enrolled in the General Equivalency Diploma Program

         13  (GED).

         14                 Over the past several years, crimes

         15  against persons have accounted for approximately 40

         16  percent of admissions.  Additionally, approximately

         17  nine out of ten youth entering the OCFS facilities

         18  are found at intake screening to have at lease one

         19  special service need:  Substance abuse, 80 percent,

         20  mental health, 57 percent, special education, 18

         21  percent, health, 52 percent, and/or sex offender, 12

         22  percent.

         23                 With this very difficult population

         24  in mind, OCFS has invested a great deal of effort

         25  into examining its programming, and is steadily
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          2  working to refine and improve the offerings

          3  available that best addresses the multiple and

          4  complex needs of facility residents in OCFS's care.

          5                 A gap analysis of the education

          6  program was completed in 2003, and a comprehensive

          7  work plan was subsequently developed as a result.

          8  As a result of the gap analysis, various initiative

          9  have been implemented with the aim of improving

         10  services delivered to stakeholders.

         11                 We know that steps must be taken

         12  early on to prepare young people leaving our

         13  facilities for successful re entry into their

         14  communities.  Supports must be available and in

         15  place within a timely manner for youth returning to

         16  their communities.  OCFS is committed to decreasing

         17  the amount of time taken for re- entry of youth

         18  returning to public schools.  This has led to the

         19  pursuit of a Memorandum of Understanding with New

         20  York City Department of Education (NYCDOE) regarding

         21  school re entry.

         22                 Recently, we concluded a four- year

         23  initiative that was aimed at retooling and more

         24  effectively aligning the curriculum of OCFS'

         25  education program to New York State Learning
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          2  Standards.  This initiative involved partnering with

          3  the International Center for Leadership in Education

          4  to create a more rigorous and relevant curriculum,

          5  which enables more residents in OCFS programs to

          6  pass state assessments.  Also, the curriculum enable

          7  us to meet the requirements of federal legislation

          8  relevant to No Child Left Behind.  This entire

          9  process has allowed us to provide for the

         10  professional development of our staff.

         11                 Residents in OCFS programs are also

         12  eligible to participate in preparation for the

         13  General Equivalency Diploma (GED) and are

         14  administered the GED exam.  Through this program,

         15  many eligible residents are awarded the New York

         16  State High School Equivalency Diploma.  An audit

         17  performed by the Office of the State Comptroller

         18  (OSC) in 2005 resulted in the revision of policies

         19  and procedures pertaining to our GED program to

         20  better align them with SED regulations.  This

         21  initiative led to an increased number of residents

         22  taking and passing the GED examination.  For the

         23  2005 to 2006 school year, OCFS students achieved a

         24  75 percent pass rate for the GED exam, which

         25  compares favorable to the State pass rate of 55
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          2  percent.

          3                 Pst-GED coursework and programs are

          4  being developed and utilized to assist the youth in

          5  our care. Currently, a financial planning program

          6  developed by Cornell University is being

          7  implemented.  Efforts are also underway to enact a

          8  Memorandum of Agreement with the Department of Motor

          9  Vehicles that permits youth to take the Learner

         10  Permit Knowledge Test online.  OCFS is currently re-

         11  examining the New York Education and training

         12  Voucher program as a possible tool to provide for

         13  the continuing education of our residents.  This

         14  program is a resource for foster care youth to

         15  assist them with the cost of college coursework or

         16  training.

         17                 Career vocational offerings in OCFS

         18  programs have been tailored to meet the growing

         19  needs of today's job market, as outlined by the

         20  Department of Labor.  A partnership with OCFS's

         21  Office of Workforce Development has produced many

         22  specialized programs that enable residents to earn

         23  certificates acknowledging mastery of a skill set

         24  associated within a respected field.  The primary

         25  goal of career education is to build a foundation in

                                                            158

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND EDUCATION

          2  work skills.

          3                 The vocational offerings in our

          4  programs have led to the forging of relationships

          5  with many well- known, respected companies.  The

          6  results of some offerings from 2002 to 2005 in the

          7  following fields are as follows:  Work in the

          8  automotive field through Midas International has led

          9  to over 400 certificates being issued since 2002,

         10  work in the office skills field has resulted in

         11  Microsoft and Mouse Certification, Work in the

         12  building trades field associated with the National

         13  Center for Construction Education Research results

         14  in residents receiving certification, work in

         15  merchandising management leads to Nike Curriculum

         16  Certification, work in the food service field

         17  associated with the NYS Restaurant Association leads

         18  to ServSafe Certification.  Since 2004, 122 youth

         19  have passed the Food Safety examination.

         20  Collaboration with Cornell University has led to 56

         21  Work Plus certificates being awarded since 2004,

         22  work performed in conjunction with The Cleaning

         23  Management Institute (since early 2005, resulted in

         24  26 Property Management Certificates being issued to

         25  residents.
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          2                 On- the- job training is available in

          3  every facility.  This program maximizes work- based

          4  learning for facility youth and fully prepares

          5  residents for successfully entering further training

          6  or employment upon release to the community.

          7                 Summer Youth Employment Program

          8  (SYEP) is another important initiative funded

          9  through the Workforce Investment Act (WIA) that is

         10  available to youth participating in OCFS aftercare,

         11  evening reporting centers or group homes.  SYEP is

         12  designed to employ OCFS youth in summer jobs.

         13                 Additionally, many OCFS facilities

         14  work closely with local institution/agencies to

         15  assist with the transition of our residents.

         16  Facilities have developed programs with Cornell

         17  University that allow residents to receive education

         18  in the fields of child- care, nutritional planning

         19  and horticulture. Local colleges, including Medgar

         20  Evers College in Brooklyn, Erie County Community

         21  College and Staten Island Community College, are

         22  utilized to assist with various aspects of OCFS

         23  programs, including planning for transition,

         24  mentoring and the earning of college credits for

         25  residents who already have passed the GED exam.  IBM
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          2  sponsors a mentoring program that connects our youth

          3  with various professionals as well.

          4                 OCFS continues to enhance the

          5  technology available to residents in facilities as

          6  well as the offerings available through the use of

          7  technology.  We have worked to evaluate and install

          8  various server- based software applications that are

          9  accessible to all facilities.  Programs such as GED

         10  21st Century and Tutor systems enable the educators

         11  to provide enhanced offerings to the various

         12  students in different grade levels. Robotic kits are

         13  used to help students develop technical skills and a

         14  better understanding of programming concepts.

         15  Computer equipment is being upgraded regularly, and

         16  an effort is underway by OCFS to explore the use of

         17  laptop computers and wireless technology as a means

         18  of enhancing the instructional delivery process.  A

         19  purchase of PLATO learning software is being

         20  considered; this software would serve students with

         21  special needs (learning disabled), general education

         22  students and post secondary students simultaneously.

         23                 Continual efforts are made so that

         24  our staff members receive professional development.

         25  Our education administrators meet regularly.  The
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          2  administrators, as well as teachers, have been able

          3  to participate in various conferences, the most

          4  recent being the New York State Math Teachers

          5  Association conference in Saratoga Springs in

          6  October 2006. Training provided by representatives

          7  of the Learning Disabilities Association as well as

          8  other professional involved with special education

          9  permits our staff to increase their knowledge of new

         10  topics and potential issues in education.  Efforts

         11  are underway at various facilities to explore

         12  curriculum mapping and training is currently planned

         13  for teachers to understand the various effects of

         14  particular medications taken by youth in our care.

         15  This training is designed to increase awareness of

         16  specific behaviors associated with many diagnosed

         17  conditions.

         18                 Efforts are underway to revise an

         19  existing Memorandum of Agreement between OCFS and

         20  NYSED.  This interagency agreement will enhance the

         21  ability of each agency to fulfill its

         22  responsibilities and provide better services to

         23  children.

         24                 OCFS is also currently involved with

         25  the data warehouse project.  This project captures
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          2  data required by the state for reporting and

          3  accountability purposes (e.g.,No Child Left Behind).

          4                 A Memorandum of Understanding with

          5  SED's Vocational and Education Services for

          6  Individuals with Disabilities (VESID) is currently

          7  in place, which allows us to assist special

          8  education youth with transition services.

          9                 Continued effort on the Memorandum of

         10  Understanding between OCFS and NYCDOE has recently

         11  enable us to initiate access to education records.

         12  This is a significant achievement.  The hope is that

         13  this system may permit the faster transmission and

         14  easier access of important educational information

         15  in a timelier manner for youth entering and leaving

         16  OCFS care.

         17                 OCFS personnel have also begun work

         18  on plans to strengthen recruitment efforts of

         19  qualified teachers and exam salary schedule in

         20  preparation for anticipated shortages of teachers in

         21  particular subject areas.

         22                 Our education programs continue to

         23  provide services in accordance with Part 100, Part

         24  116, Part 200, and Part 201 of the State Education

         25  Department Commissioner's Regulations.  It is

                                                            163

          1  JUVENILE JUSTICE AND EDUCATION

          2  important that all parties involved with the

          3  interests of the youth in these programs continue to

          4  work closely together to produce relevant gains so

          5  that upon release from OCFS custody, youth can

          6  contribute immediately to other institutions and

          7  society in general.

          8                 On behalf of OCFS, thank you for this

          9  opportunity to provide information on the

         10  educational services available to youth in New York

         11  State's juvenile residential facilities.

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 4:00 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, EMILY GRAVES, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 5th day of December 2006.
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         25                          EMILY GRAVES
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          8

          9            I, EMILY GRAVES, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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